
Please ask for Julie Britton: Telephone (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE

WARD REPRESENTATIVES WISHING TO SPEAK ON A PARTICULAR APPLICATION ARE 
ASKED TO INFORM THE PLANNING USHER WELL IN ADVANCE OF THE MEETING AND TO 
ARRIVE AT THE MEETING BY 9.30AM

Committee - PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date & Time - MONDAY, 17TH DECEMBER, 2018 AT 9.30 
am

Venue - ANGLIA ROOM, THE CONFERENCE SUITE, 
ELIZABETH HOUSE, DEREHAM

THE ORDER OF THE MEETING WILL VARY TO 
ALLOW FOR PUBLIC SPEAKING AND WILL 

NOT FOLLOW THAT OF THIS AGENDA

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL

Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or blog from this 
meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.  No part of the meeting room 
is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting resolves to go into private session.  The use 
of images or recordings arising from this is not under the Council’s control.

VOTING:

If the first vote is lost in considering an application, a new proposal will be requested (eg a 
vote for approval, if lost, does not automatically mean “refused”).  On a tied vote, the 
Chairman has a casting vote, if he/she wishes to use it.  It is necessary for summary 
reasons for approvals or refusals to be identified in each case.

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE
Date: Thursday, 6 December 2018

Public Document Pack





BRECKLAND COUNCIL – PLANNING COMMITTEE

. PLANNING POLICY NOTE

THE STRENGTH OF PLANNING POLICY IN DETERMINING PLANNING APPLICATIONS

The Planning process is set up, IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST, to protect the public from the unacceptable 
planning activities of private individuals and development companies. Planning is primarily concerned to deal 
with issues of land use and the way they affect the environment.

The Council has a DUTY, through the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to prepare Local Development 
Documents (DPDs) to provide a statutory framework for planning decisions. The Development Plan for Breckland 
currently consists of a suite of documents. The primary document which sets out the overarching planning strategy 
for the District and the local planning policies is the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies document. This 
was adopted by Breckland Council on 17th December 2009 and is the local starting point in the determination of 
planning applications. Breckland Council has also adopted its Site Specific Policies and Proposals DPD, on 19th 
January 2012. The document allocates specific areas of land for development and revised settlement boundaries.

Breckland’s Plan contains the Council’s planning policies, which must be consistent with Government policy which is 
currently the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and accompanying technical guidance.

The full public scrutiny of the Council’s proposals will give the Plan an exceptional weight when dealing with planning 
applications.

This shift towards a “Plan-led” planning system is a major feature of planning legislation. The Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004, states that planning applications should be determined in accordance with the policies of 
the Plan, unless material considerations which are relevant to planning indicate otherwise.

The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable development. The core planning 
principles contained within the NPPF are summarised as:

 To be genuinely plan led
 To drive and support sustainable economic development
 Seek high quality design
 Conserve and enhance the natural environment
 Encourage the effective use of land
 Conserve heritage assets

Unless there are special reasons to do otherwise, planning permissions “run with the land”, and are NOT personal 
licences.

The factors to be used in determining applications will relate to the effect on the “public at large” and will NOT be 
those that refer to private interests.

Personal circumstances of applicants “will rarely” be an influencing factor, and then, only when the planning issues 
are “finely balanced”.

THEREFORE we will:
• acknowledge the strength of our policies,
• be consistent in the application of our policy, and
• if we need to adapt our policy, we should do it through the LDF process.

Decisions which are finely balanced, and which contradict policy will be recorded in detail, to explain and 
justify the decision, and the strength of the material planning reasons for doing so.

LOCAL COUNCILS

OCCASIONALLY, THERE ARE CONFLICTS WITH THE VIEWS OF THE PARISH OR TOWN COUNCIL. WHY IS 
THIS?

We ask local parish and town councils to recognise that comments received are taken into account. Where we 
disagree with those comments it will be because:

• Districts look to “wider” policies, and national, regional and county planning strategy.
 Other consultation responses may have affected our recommendation.
• There is an honest difference of opinion.



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

PART A
ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

1. MINUTES 6 - 15
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 26 November 2018.

2. APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES 
To receive apologies for absence.

3. DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS 
RECEIVED 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

4. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

5. REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
To consider any requests from Ward Members, officers or applicants to 
defer an application included in this agenda, so as to save any unnecessary 
waiting by members of the public attending for such applications.

6. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

7. LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) 
To receive an update.  

8. DEFERRED APPLICATIONS 16
To consider applications deferred at previous meetings including some, but 
not all, of those shown on the attached Schedule of Deferred Applications.

9. SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
To consider the Schedule of Planning Applications:

a) Attleborough: Unit opposite MultiFab Bunns Bank: Reference: 
3PL/2018/1206/F

17 - 23

b) Beeston: Land off The Street and Herne Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0472/F

24 - 41 

This application was presented to Planning Committee at the meeting 
of 1st October 2018 where Members resolved to approve the 



Planning Committee
17 December 2018

Page(s)
herewith

application as an overturn of the Officer’s recommendation of refusal.

There has subsequently been submitted:

(a) additional information in the form of dated photographs 
showing a hedge on the northern boundary of the site 
including from 1946. The additional information comes from an 
objector and from investigations by the Council's Tree Officer.  
The additional information indicates that the hedge on the 
northern boundary is a hedge which should be considered as 
an 'Important Hedge' and its value as such and the 
presumption to retain such a hedge.

(b) a Pre-Action Letter regarding the intention to lodge a Judicial 
Review application in regard to the decision of the Council to 
approve the application, the details of which are set out below.

REASON:

This application is being re-presented to Planning Committee for re-
consideration by Members. The reason that the application is being 
represented is due to the risk of a Judicial Review being lodged and 
the need for Members to be able to consider the additional information 
regarding the status of the hedge and to consider the issues raised in 
the Pre-Action letter.

c) Foulden: Site at School Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1603/O 42 - 73

d) Great Ellingham: Development Site at 601936 296991, Attleborough 
Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0713/VAR

74 - 82

e) Ickburgh: Land adjacent to Manor Farm, 50 Ashburton Road: 
Reference: 3PL/2018/1061/F

83 - 94

f) Narborough:  Pentney Leisure and Bowls Club, Narborough Road, 
Pentney, Kings Lynn: Reference: 3PL/2018/0154/F

95 - 101

g) Whissonsett: Land off Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0333/F 102 - 112

10. APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE 

113 - 119

Report of the Executive Director of Place.

Members are requested to raise any questions at least two working days 
before the meeting to allow information to be provided to the Committee.

11. APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFO) 120 - 121
For information.



BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Held on Monday, 26 November 2018 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr W. R. J. Richmond (Vice-
Chairman)
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.J. Duigan

Mrs J. Hollis
Mr A.P. Joel
Mr K. Martin
Mr F.J. Sharpe
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

Also Present
Mr S.G. Bambridge (Ward 
Representative)
Mr P. M. M. Dimoglou (Ward 
Representative)

Mrs L.H. Monument (Ward Representative)

In Attendance
Michael Horn Solicitor to the Council
Simon Wood Interim Director of Planning
Carl Griffiths Principal Development Management Planner
Fiona Hunter Principal Development Management Planner
Naomi Minto Development Management Planner
Tom Donnelly Development Management Assistant
Natalie Wicks Planning Assistant
Julie Britton Democratic Services Officer
Liz Poole Engineer (Major Developments)

 

Action By
132/18 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1) 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 29 October 2018 were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

133/18 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2) 

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Brame.

134/18 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED 
(AGENDA ITEM 3) 

Agenda item 8(a): Toftwood: Land off Shipdham Road, Westfield Road and 
Westfield Lane: Reference: 3PL/2015/1490/O

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to this application. 

135/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4) 

Members were informed of a site visit that was taking place on Tuesday, 11 
December 2018 at a site in Beeston.  All Members were encouraged to attend - 

6

Agenda Item 1



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

refreshments would be available in the Norfolk Room from 9am for departure at 
9.30am and car sharing was advised.

136/18 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA 
(AGENDA ITEM 5) 

Councillor Duigan raised concerns about the deferred item in Hockering, listed on 
the schedule of deferred applications.  He had been past the site on many 
occasions and was aware that most of the dwellings had been built. The Planning 
Business Manager, Mr Simon Wood, said that he would investigate. 

The schedule of deferred applications was otherwise noted.

137/18 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6) 

None.

138/18 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7) 

Simon Wood, the Interim Director of Planning announced that there was a report 
going to Full Council on 6th December which would consider the main 
modifications required to the Breckland Local Plan following the Inspectors letter 
to the Council. The report should be published in the next few days as part of the 
agenda pack for that meeting, and would include a full schedule of modifications. 
The Council agenda would soon be published on the Breckland website and any 
questions relating to that report should be directed to the Planning Policy Team.

Councillor Clarke looked forward to further clarity on this matter.

Councillor Martin asked if there was any indication to when the Attleborough SUE 
would be discussed.  Members were informed that significant discussions were 
still on-going but it was anticipated, although not definite, that the application 
would be included on the Planning Agenda early next year.

139/18 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8) 

(a) Toftwood: Land off Shipdham Road,  Westfield Road and Westfield Lane: 
Reference: 3PL/2015/1490/O  

Residential development for a maximum of 291 dwellings, link roads, open 
space and recreational space.  Amended proposal to include demolition of 
existing railway bridge at Westfield Lane and construction of a replacement two-
way railway bridge (instead of traffic signalling works at the junction of South 
Green and Tavern Lane).

This application had been considered at the Planning Committee meeting on 15 
January 2018 where it was refused planning permission for the following 
reasons:

1. The intrusion of built development into the open countryside and the 
creation of a hard edge to the town of Dereham; and

2. Significant visual impact and harm to the character and appearance of the 
site and surround landscape.

The vote had been tied, 5 x 5, and following the Chairman’s casting vote, the 
application was refused on the above stated grounds together with a highway 
ground, including the impact of the junction on a ‘C’ Class road being used as an 

7



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

entrance/access point to the development.

Members had received direct correspondence in relation to this application.  A 
letter of objection from George Freeman MP was read aloud, this was a follow on 
letter from the one he had written in January 2018.  

Councillor Dimoglou, a neighbouring Ward Representative for Yaxham, although 
in attendance, did not take part in the debate and left the room whilst this 
application was discussed. 

Liz Poole, from Norfolk County Council Highways, was also in attendance.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Simon Wood, Interim Director 
of Planning.  It was noted that the proposal was for a maximum of 291 dwellings 
and not for a minimum of 291 dwellings as stated on the report.  It was further 
noted that the footway would form part of the bridge; there would not be a 
separate footpath.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Dereham Town Council: Tony Needham

Applicant’s Agent: Jane Crichton & Philip Atkinson 
(Lanpro)

Transport Consultant: Simon Clewlow

Norfolk County Council Highways: Liz Poole

Neighbouring Ward Representative: Cllr Linda Monument

Yaxham Parish Council: Peter Lowings (Chairman)

Objector: Philip Morton

Objector: Valerie Baker (on behalf of Toftwood 
Life Community)

Objector: Michelle Parnell 

DECISION: Members voted 6 x 4 for approval of a maximum of 291 
dwellings as recommended; subject to the conditions as listed in the 
report; and a S106 Agreement to secure:

1) the provision of onsite affordable housing at 40% (116 
dwellings);

2) contributions to Library services £17,460;

3) contributions to local Primary Schools on a pro rata basis 
£980,089;

4) public open space contribution;
8



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

5) NHS contribution £91,740;

6) the removal of the requirement for a payment of £182,500 for 
the restoration works to the River Tud - these works would 
now be undertaken as part of the scheme agreed via the 
Unilateral Undertaking;

7) onsite open space totalling 12.63 hectare;

8) offsite green space to be reverted to low density grazing land 
totalling 13ha;

9) a roundabout to be constructed and open by the 50th built 
dwelling; and

10) the railway bridge and footpath to be constructed and open 
by the 50th built dwelling – no works shall take place to the 
railway bridge known as ‘Bridge 1692’, until a detailed report 
recording the construction methods, materials and 
architectural details of the bridge has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority.

The Chairman thanked Tony Needham, Dereham Town Council for his excellent 
representation.  It was noted that the Town Council’s Sustainable Transport 
Study, in respect of cycle and footway links, which should be completed by 
December 2018, would be considered in relation to subsequent reserved matters 
applications.

140/18 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9) 

RESOLVED that the applications be determined as follows:

(a) Ashill: Land adjacent to Reeves Farm, Hale Road Reference: 3PL/2018/0764/O  

Residential development.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Frank Sharpe (on behalf of the 
Parish Council)

Prior to the decision being made Councillor Sharpe asked for it to be noted that, 
on behalf of the Parish Council, he wanted the gas pipeline clarified as the gas 
main was preventing a footpath being installed.  The Parish Council also wanted 
to know if a street light could be installed.  Simon Wood, the Planning Business 
Manager advised that there had been no objection in principle to the installation 
of a footpath and an informative condition could be applied instructing the agents 
to contact the National Grid or Cadent.  The Development Management Assistant 
was not aware of any street light proposal.

9



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to:

1. the conditions as listed in the report;

2. the ecology comments being received in relation to bats and other 
ecological receptors; and

3. an informative be added to the Decision Notice in relation to the gas 
pipeline being clarified to enable the provision of a  possible 
footpath.

(b) Attleborough: Land to the rear of Pixie Paddock, Leys Lane: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0889/F  

Erection of a 4 bed dwelling.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

A representation was made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Agent: John Barbuck (Patterson Design)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(c) Carbrooke: The Crown House, Meadow Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/1244/F  

Proposed 2 new bungalows.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Updated representations had been included in the supplementary agenda (see 
page 171).

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

(d) Foxley: Old Fakenham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1053/O  

Seven residential dwellings with associated gardens, garages and private drives.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

10



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge

Agent: Russell de Beer

Foxley Parish Council: Nicholas Mears (Chairman)

Bawdeswell Parish Council: Bill Cuncliffe (Chairman)

Prior to the decision being made Members were informed that the words ‘data 
error’ would be removed from conditions 13 and 14.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to the issue of 
affordable housing provision being addressed. 

(e) Litcham: Land off Weasenham Road : Reference: 3PL/2018/0694/O  

Outline permission for the erection of 8 dwellings, with all matters except access 
reserved.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Sarah Hornbrook (Bidwells)

Engineering Consultant Martin Doughty

An email from the Ward Member, Councillor Gould was read aloud.  Councillor 
Gould was in support of the application.

Both applications 3PL/2018/694/0, agenda item 9(e) and 3PL/2018/0698/O, 
agenda item 9(f) were considered in conjunction with each other as both would 
constitute a major development.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officers recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable location 
and would contribute to the Council’s five year housing land supply.  

Members felt that the above reasons outweighed the Highway Authority’s 
objections.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

11



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

The application be approved; subject to:

1. delegated authority to be granted to the Executive Director of Place 
in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to identify and agree 
appropriate conditions; and

2. a S106 Agreement and Unilateral Undertaking be imposed in relation 
to affordable housing, play area and off-site highway works.

(f) Litcham: Land of Wellingham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0698/O  

Outline permission for the erection of 8 dwellings, with all matters except access 
reserved.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Carl Griffiths, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agent: Sarah Hornbrook (Bidwells)

Engineering Consultant Martin Doughty

An email from the Ward Member, Councillor Gould was read aloud.  Councillor 
Gould was in support of the application.

Both applications 3PL/2018/0698/O, agenda item 9(f) and 3PL/2018/694/0, 
agenda item 9(e) and were considered in conjunction with each other as both 
constituted a major development.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officers recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable location 
and would contribute to the Council’s five year housing land supply.  

Members felt that the above reasons outweighed the Highway Authority’s 
objections.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

The application be approved; subject to:

1. delegated authority to be granted to the Executive Director of Place 
in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to identify and agree 
appropriate conditions; and

2. a S106 Agreement and Unilateral Undertaking be imposed in relation 
to affordable housing, play area and off-site highway works.

12



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

(g) North Tuddenham: Church Farm, Low Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1057/F  

Demolition of log store and barn and replacement with single dwelling and 
garage.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Gordon Bambridge (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: Erica Whettingsteel (EJW Planning Ltd)

Parish Council: Mike Smith (Vice-Chairman)

Prior to the decision being made the Chairman asked if a suitable passing place 
could be installed.  It was noted that the applicant’s agent was waiting for 
correspondence and clarification of ownership of land from Norfolk County 
Council Highways Authority.  

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval contrary to the 
Officer’s recommendation of refusal.

REASON(S): on the grounds that the proposal was in a sustainable 
location, would enhance the hamlet and would contribute to the Council’s 
five year housing land supply.  

DECISION: Members voted unanimously to approve the application. 

The application be approved and delegated authority be granted to the 
Executive Director of Place in consultation with the Applicant’s Agent to 
identify and agree appropriate conditions and an additional condition to be 
imposed subject to land ownership being obtained for the provision of a 
passing place between Mattishall Lane and the development site.

(h) Old Buckenham: 9 The Old Yard: Reference: 3PL/2018/0887/F  

Erection of an office building with first floor 2 bed residential accommodation.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Tom Donnelly, Development 
Management Assistant.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

No representations were made in respect of the application.

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report. 

13



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

(i) Shipdham: Land to the east of Pound Green Lane: Reference:  
3PL/2018/1103/F  

Residential development of four dwellings..

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Applicant’s Agents: Abby Gretton and Melanie Tilley (Clayland 
Architects)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended; 
subject to the conditions as listed in the report; and subject to additional 
conditions relating to foul sewage disposal and operational time in relation 
to movement of site traffic.

(j) Whinburgh and Westfield: Lowdells House, Shop Street: Reference: 
3PL/2017/1472/F  

Two new detached 4 bedroom dwellings with detached double garages.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Naomi Minto, Development 
Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

Applicant’s Agent: John Jenkins

Objectors: Stratton and Denise Humphrey

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report and subject to a total of three owl 
boxes being installed. 

(k) Yaxham: Development Site, Land Off Elm Close: Reference: 
3PL/2018/0024/VAR  

Removal of conditions 13 and 21 and variation of conditions 12 and 16 of 
planning permission reference: 3PL/2014/0820/O.

Consideration was given to the report presented by Fiona Hunter, Principal 
Development Management Planner.

Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in 
light of prevailing policies and guidance. 

14



Planning Committee
26 November 2018

Action By

Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the 
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

Ward Representative: Councillor Pablo Dimoglou (in support)

NP4Yaxham: Maggie Oechsle

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 1 for approval as recommended; subject to 
the conditions as listed in the report. 

141/18 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF 
PLACE (AGENDA ITEM 10) 

Noted.

142/18 APPEALS DECISIONS (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 11) 

Noted.

The meeting closed at 1.35 pm
CHAIRMAN

15



BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE – 17 December 2018: SCHEDULE OF DEFERRED APPLICATIONS

REFERENCE AND DETAILS OF APPLICATIONS MEETING 
FIRST 
REPORTED TO

RECOMMENDATION REASON FOR 
DEFERMENT

DATE 
EXPECTED 
TO RETURN 
TO 
COMMITTEE

3PL/2010/1361/F: DEREHAM: Land East of 
Yaxham Road, South of Dumpling Green: Erection 
of 255 dwellings with associated open space 

01/09/2014 Approval For further information tbc

3PL/2018/0690/VAR: Hockering: Hill House Lodge 
Road, From Honingham To North Tuddenham: 
Variation of condition no. 13 in relation to highway 
works on 3PL/2016/1552/F to vary condition to read 
“prior to construction of any dwelling above slab 
level (amended description 27/7/2018).
 

03/09/2018 Approval To allow further information 
to be received from the 
Highways Engineer on the 
highway layout and further 
clarification was required on 
construction levels.

tbc

16

A
genda Item

 8



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1206/F CASE OFFICER Carl Griffiths

LOCATION: ATTLEBOROUGH APPNTYPE: Full
Unit opposite MultiFab Bunns Bank POLICY: In Settlemnt Bndry
Attleborough ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr M Hall
C/O Agent Parker Planning Services
East Tuddenham

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parker Planning Services Ltd
Orchard House Hall Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 1 No. industrial building, split into 6 general industrial units
(B2)

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is referred to Planning Committee as it relates to development of over 1,000 square metres in
area, therefore constituting major development.

KEY ISSUES

The principle of development;
Highways impacts;
Amenity impacts.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks permission for the erection of 1no. industrial building (Use Class B2) with a floor space
of 1,152 square metres (12,400 sqft). The building would be subdivided into 6 separate units which would be
let out to individual businesses. Parking would also be provided adjacent to the proposed building.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located within Bunns Lane Industrial Estate, approximately 0.6 miles to the south east
of Attleborough. Bunns Bank Industrial Estate lies to the north of Bunns Bank Road, to the east of the B1077
Buckenham Road and is a designated General Employment Area with numerous industrial uses currently in
situ. The land to which the application relates specifically, is currently utilised for the storage of materials.

EIA REQUIRED

No

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 17

Agenda Item 9a



 

 

 

 

 

 

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

None

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.03 Employment
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.06 General Employment Areas
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

CONSULTATIONS

ATTLEBOROUGH TC
None
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objections in principle other than an amount of secured, covered cycle parking
needs to be included, which can be dealt with by way of condition.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment. This is because the proposal is for less than 100 dwellings or 2 ha in size and is not within a
surface water flow path as defined by Environment Agency mapping. You should satisfy yourself that the
applicant has demonstrated compliance with;  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraphs
155 - 165 by ensuring that the proposal would not increase flood risk elsewhere and will incorporate
sustainable drainage systems. The applicant should also demonstrate how the proposal accords with
national standards and relevant guidance. If the proposal does not accord with these the applicant should
state their reasoning and the implications of not doing so.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No comment
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
From the information and photograph provided in the design and access statement the site appears to be of
limited ecological value. If you are minded to approve this application we recommend that you condition

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 18



 

 

 

 

native species planting needs to be included in the site design to provide net gains for biodiversity(paragraph
170, NPP.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
We have reviewed the information provided and we have no objection to the proposed development. The site
is situated within Flood Zone 1 (low risk) of the Environment Agency Flood Map. The site is located above a
Principal Aquifer and within Source Protection Zone 2/3 (SPZ). The developer should address risks to
controlled waters from contamination at the site, following the requirements of the National Planning Policy
Framework and the Environment Agency Guiding Principles for Land Contamination. If the development
proposes to use deep infiltration systems including boreholes and other structures that by-pass the soil layer
we would wish to be re-consulted. If you have any further queries please do not hesitate to contact us.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
No objection subject to suggested condition relating to foul and surface water.

ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

Site Notice posted and neighbors consulted- No response received

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0Principle of Development

1.1The application site is located within the Bunns Bank Industrial Estate which is a designated General
Employment Area. Policy CP3 and DC6 of the development plan are therefore relevant to the consideration,
relating to Employment and General Employment Areas respectively.

1.2In strategic terms, Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that provision is to be made for development
that will deliver at least 6,000 jobs in the district to 2021, with 1500-2000 of these jobs to be located in
Attleborough. Policy CP3(b) goes on to state that existing employment sites that have been identified as fit
for purpose (General Employment Areas) will be protected and promoted.
1.3In specific relation to General Employment Areas, Policy DC6 states that General Employment Areas will
be protected for employment use and proposals to accommodate new employment development will be
permitted where It is not a town centre us and it will not undermine the function of the wider employment
area.

1.4The application seeks permission for the erection of an industrial building of 1152 square metres which
would be subdivided into 6 separate units. The units would operate under a B2 use class (General Industrial
Use) with no end users currently identified. It should be noted that all uses under class B of the Use Classes
Order are considered to be employment uses.

1.5Having regard to the above, it is clear that the proposed development would be fully in accordance with
policy and would support and enhance the role and function of the Bunns Bank Industrial Estate General
Employment Area, providing additional employment opportunities in accordance with Policies DC6 and CP3
of the development plan.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 19



 

2.0Highways Impacts

2.1The development proposes 48 parking spaces across the 6 units which would be laid out in rows with a
perpendicular relationship to the proposed unit.  The parking would be accessed from the road connecting to
the existing vehicular access point from Bunns Bank Road which runs centrally through the site and
terminates in a hammerhead layout adjacent to the site. Given the infrastructure currently in situ, minimal
facilitation works would be required to implement the development.

2.2NCC Highways were consulted on the application and had no objections subject to conditions relating to
the provision of covered cycle parking and in relation to the laying out and implementation of the parking
area. Such conditions are therefore attached accordingly. It is also considered prudent to attach a condition
requiring the submission of a servicing and delivery management plan.

3.0Amenity Impact

3.1The proposed industrial unit is located within an existing industrial estate which accommodates existing
premises operating within the same use class as that for which permission is sought with the current
application. Given the established use of the industrial area and the absence of residential properties within
the immediate vicinity of the site, it is considered that there is limited potential for the development to result in
any unacceptable impact on the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. Nevertheless, given that the end users
are not known at this stage - it is considered prudent to attach conditions relating to the  operational details of
the end use.

4.0Other Issues

4.1In terms of flooding, the application site is located within Flood Zone 1 which is identified as being low risk.
Both the Environment Agency and the LLFA had no objections to the application.

4.2In terms of trees and arboriculture, the site does not contain any existing trees however hedging bounds
the site to the north and east. The hedging will be unaffected by the development. The Council's
Arboricultural officer was consulted on the application and outlined no objections. The application is therefore
accordant with Policy DC12 of the development plan.

4.3With regards to ecology and biodiversity, NCC were consulted on the application and had considered that
the site was of limited ecological value. There was therefore no objection to the application subject to a
condition relating to native species which is attached accordingly.

5.0Conclusion

5.1The application seeks permission for the introduction of an employment use into a designated General
Employment Area and would help to support and promote the function of the industrial estate. The
application has been fully assessed in terms of all other issues and no harmful impacts or policy
contradictions identified. The application is fully accordant with policies CP3 and DC6 of the development
plan and as such is recommended for approval subject to the listed conditions.

RECOMMENDATION

The application is recommended for approval subject to the listed conditions.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 20



 
CONDITIONS

2 Full Permission Time Limit (3 years)
The development must be begun not later that the expiration of THREE YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.

Reason for Condition: As required by section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Trees/hedges to be retained
The existing hedges on the site shall be retained.  Should any die or be removed without the
written consent of the Local Planning Authority, they shall be replaced during the next
planting season with a tree(s) or hedging of a species, size and in the same location to the
satisfaction and
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:- In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development.
5 Non-standard highways condition

Prior to first occupation of the development hereby permitted a scheme for the parking of
cycles shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall be fully implemented before the development is first occupied or brought
into use and thereafter retained for this purpose.

Reason: To ensure the provision of adequate cycle parking that meets the needs of
occupiers of the proposed development and in the interests of encouraging the use of
sustainable modes of transport.

6 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed access/
parking/servicing/loading/unloading/turning/waiting area shall be laid out, demarcated,
levelled, surfaced and drained in accordance with the approved plan and retained
thereafter available for that specific use.

Reason: To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the
interests of satisfactory development and highway safety.

7 Hours of Deliveries
No deliveries shall be made or dispatched from the site, materials loaded or unloaded,
refrigerated units run or engines idled outside the following times:  hours.

Reason for condition:- In the interests of the amenities of adjoining residents in accordance
with policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 21



8 Hours of operation during construction
No demolition, site clearance or construction shall be carried out, no machinery operated nor
deliveries taken at or waste despatched from the site outside the hours of 07:30 - 18:00
Monday to Friday, 08:00 - 13:00 Saturday nor at any time on Sundays, Bank Holidays or
Public Holidays.

Reason for condition:-In the interests of the amenities of the locality in accordance with
policy DC1 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Control Document 2009.

9 Non standard use restriction
Prior to the first occupation of each of the 6 units, a delivery, servicing and operational
management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority, The plan shall include:

- hours of operation
- hours of deliveries
- servicing and refuse collection arrangements
- details of specific operational requirements of the end user

Reason for condition:- In the interests of the amenities of adjoining residents and in the
interests of highway safety in accordance with Policies DC1 and DC19 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009.

10 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority in consultation with Anglian Water. The details shall include the following:

- Development size
- Proposed discharge rate (for pumped connections, minimum pumped discharge rate is
3.8l/s)
- Connecting manhole discharge location (No connections can be made into a public rising
main)
- Notification of intention to connect to the public sewer under S106 of the Water Industry Act
- Feasible mitigation strategy in agreement with Anglian Water (if required)

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority in consultation with Anglian Water. The details shall include the following:

- Development hectare size

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 22



 

- Proposed discharge rate (minimum discharge rate is 5l/s. The applicant can verify the site's
existing 1 in 1 year greenfield run off rate on the following HR Wallingford website -
http://www.uksuds.com/drainage-calculation-tools/greenfield-runoff-rate-estimation. For
Brownfield sites being demolished, the site should be treated as Greenfield. Where this is
not practical Anglian Water would assess the roof area of the former development site and
subject to capacity, permit the 1 in 1 year calculated rate)
- Connecting manhole discharge location
- Sufficient evidence to prove that all surface water disposal routes have been explored as
detailed in the surface water hierarchy, stipulated in Building Regulations Part H (Our
Surface Water Policy can be found on Anglian Water website)

Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.

Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development.
This condition is imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 23



 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0472/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: BEESTON APPNTYPE: Full
Land off The Street and Herne Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Beeston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs Helen Palmer-Wright
C/O Parker Planning Services Orchard
House

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parker Planning Services Ltd
Orchard House Hall Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 6 no. dwellings (including two affordable dwellings) with double garages,
associated parking and gardens including the creation of a new access onto The Street

DEFERRED REASON

 SUPPLEMENTAL REPORT

 INTRODUCTION

This application was presented to Planning Committee at the meeting of 1st October 2018 where Members
resolved to approve the application as an overturn of Officer recommendation of refusal.

There has subsequently been submitted,

(a) additional information in the form of dated photographs showing a hedge on the northern boundary of the
site including from 1946. The additional information comes from an objector and from investigations by the
Council's Tree Officer.

The additional information indicates that the hedge on the northern boundary IS a hedge which should be
considered as an 'Important Hedge' and its value as such and the presumption to retain such a hedge.

(b) a Pre-Action Letter regarding the intention to lodge a Judicial Review application in regard to the decision
of the Council to approve the application, the details of which are set out below.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

This application is being re-presented to Planning Committee for re-consideration by Members.

The reason that the application is being represented is due to the risk of a Judicial Review being lodged and
the need for Members to be able to consider the additional information regarding the status of the hedge and
to consider the issues raised in the Pre-Action letter.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 24

Agenda Item 9b



 
KEY ISSUES

 (a) Important Hedge

If planning permission is granted, the hedgerow will be removed in order to meet highways
requirements. At the first Planning Committee presentation there appeared to have been some confusion
over the age of the hedge.

For a hedgerow to qualify as being "important" and therefore protected under the Hedgerows Regulations
1997, it has to have been in existence for at least 30 years.

The planning officers have been advised that Gressenhall holds the historic maps and aerial survey photos
for Norfolk and they have been digitised and published on the Norfolk County Council public website and that
you can see the hedge row and various other trees in question in both the 1988 and 1946 aerial surveys on
the website.

http://www.historic-maps.norfolk.gov.uk/mapexplorer/

Photographs have been seen by the Planning Officers corroborating that there was a hedge at these times.
The photographic evidence from 1988 and 1946 of a hedgerow in this position, the northern boundary, is
considered, on the balance of probabilities, to demonstrate that the hedge does qualify as an Important
Hedge.

For clarity, this means that the presumption is to retain the hedge and this must be weighed in the planning
balance when the application is determined.

 (b) Pre-Action Letter

A letter has been received subsequent to the Planning Committee of the 1st October 2018, from solicitors
regarding the decision.

The letter states it is not a "Pre-Action Protocol" letter and indeed a Judicial Review cannot be triggered until
the Council releases a formal decision - ie the Planning Permission.

However, due to the clear threat within the letter to lodge a Judicial Review application, by solicitors, on
behalf of an objector, Officers are treating the letter in the same manner as a "Pre-Action Letter".

The letter sets out the following grounds for Judicial Review, this is set out but truncated where appropriate.

"The above planning application was considered by the Planning Committee on 1st October 2018
and was approved contrary to officer advice. I am instructed that planning permission has
yet to be issued no doubt in part due to the need to complete a section 106 agreement to
secure the affordable housing that was required in respect of the panning application.

/~/ my instructions are to issue a claim for judicial review in the event that the Council proceeds to grant
planning permission in accordance with the committee resolution.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 25



The purpose of this letter is to put the Council on notice as to my client's intentions but also
to give the Council the opportunity to avoid an unnecessary judicial review and thus save
time and expense for all the relevant parties.

The officer report, which is a material consideration in accordance with Planning Policy
Guidance, clearly sets out the history of applications on this site and draws attention to the
previous Inspector's decision in relation to the site. The Inspector drew very clear and firm
conclusions as to the inappropriateness of the site for development. Given those conclusions
it might have been hoped that the applicant would have accepted that decision rather than
seeking to achieve permission in circumstances where such an endeavour is bound to fail.

Unless there are material considerations that have changed since the previous Inspector's
decision that would lead to a different conclusion my client is entitled to expect that the
Council will act consistently and refuse the application. The officer report sets out in
considerable detail such a consistent approach yet members have erroneously, and without
any recognition that they must act consistently, decided to overturn that decision without any
valid reasons that can withstand scrutiny.

I would, draw your attention to the recent Court of Appeal case of DLA DELIVERY LTD
(Appellant) v (1) BARONESS CUMBERLEGE OF NEWICK (2) PATRICK CUMBERLEGE
(Respondents) & SECRETARY OF STATE FOR COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT
(Interested Party) (2018). /~/ the Court of Appeal decided that;

"In determining an appeal against the refusal of planning permission, the secretary of
state had been obliged to have regard to his own recent decision in an unrelated
case, dealing with effectively the same issues, even though none of the parties had
brought that decision to his attention. No reasonable secretary of state would have
failed to take reasonable steps to ensure that his own decisions in cases of the same
kind, in the same district, during the same period, were consistent with each other, or
that any inconsistency was clearly explained."

That decision applies equally to local authorities as a decision maker in planning cases. The
Court of Appeal has set a very high bar for decision makers. In this case the issue is much
easier to determine as all the relevant previous decisions have been brought to the attention
of the members of the planning committee. I have acknowledged that if material considerations had changed
since the previous Inspector's decision then members were at
liberty to consider acting in the manner it did.

However, when the facts are examined the material considerations have, if anything,
changed significantly against approving the application. The original Inspector considered
that development of this site should not be permitted due to the fact that it was not
sustainable. Without a change in policy, which has not occurred, that reason would have
been a very significant, if not impossible, hurdle for the applicant to overcome. That difficulty
became even greater as a result of the more recent appeal decision of November 2017
where a different Inspector again concluded that Beeston was not a sustainable location for
development. As previously stated without a change in policy that placed Beeston in a
different category there is no scope to conclude that Beeston is a sustainable location for
development.

The lack of a five year housing supply was insufficient to convince the second Inspector that

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 26



 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

planning permission should be granted which again removes a reason to approve the
application. The officer report sets out correctly the approach to be taken where there is a
lack of a five year housing supply and then comprehensively explains why the material
considerations, based on a number of factors, do not outweigh the very significant policy
constraints as set out in Inspector's decision letters.

Members dismissal of the Inspectorate's
interpretation of sustainability is unwarranted and completely at odds with how they should
approach their decision making role in this instance. Indeed such a positon would be
irrational given that members approved the local plan which originally placed Beeston into its
current category.

Given these circumstances it is difficult to begin to understand why the members of the
planning committee thought that they could approve this application despite the
overwhelming nature of the relevant material considerations which all pointed to a single
conclusion that the application should be refused. It would appear that the sole reason this
application came before the planning committee at all was as a result of a local member
asking for it to go to committee for determination. One can easily see an application that has
been the subject of intense lobbying leading to an inappropriate and indefensible decision.

/~/  I would hope that common sense would prevail at that stage and the Council
will act as it should have done in the first instance. If the applicant considers that material
considerations have sufficiently changed then they can make such a case to a Planning
Inspector who will then consider the matter again. I would reiterate that my instructions are
to pursue a judicial review should members continue to insist on approving this application or
should officers fail to refer the matter back to committee as requested above...."

Officers feel that the letter, quoted above, does raise substantive issues and that without a careful re-
consideration by the Planning Committee there is indeed a real risk of a Judicial Review being lodged and
without material reasons why the development should be approved being put forward to outweigh the harm
demonstrated in the previous Committee Report, being successful.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report)

RECOMMENDATION

Refusal on the grounds presented to Committee previously.

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Unsustainable Development

The site is situated in an unsustainable location and thus contrary to Policies SS1, CP14 and
DC2 of the adopted Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document (2009) and the three dimensions of sustainable development
outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework (in particular paragraphs 11, 12, 14 and
79). There are no material planning considerations that would outweigh this harm.

2 Harm to Protected Hedgerow
The boundary hedgerow, is an Important Hedgerow, as defined under Schedule 1,
Paragraph 7 of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (as amended). The proposed development
would involve the loss of the Important Hedgerow and thus would be detrimental to the rural
character and appearance of the area, especially given this is a prominent location into the
village. As a result, the the proposal is contrary to Policies DC12 and CP11 of the adopted
Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009) and the NPPF (2018) (in particular Paragraph 170).

27



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0472/F CASE OFFICER Natalie Levett

LOCATION: BEESTON APPNTYPE: Full
Land off The Street and Herne Lane POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Beeston ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mrs Helen Palmer-Wright
C/O Parker Planning Services Orchard
House

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parker Planning Services Ltd
Orchard House Hall Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of 6 no. dwellings (including two affordable dwellings) with double garages,
associated parking and gardens including the creation of a new access onto The Street

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is being reported to committee at the request of Cllr Gould.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Development
- Design and Impact upon the Character and Appearance of Area and Trees and Hedgerow
- Amenity Impact
- Impact on Ecology
- Impact upon Highway Safety

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

This application seeks permission for the erection of six two storey dwellings (comprising four detached, 4-
bed properties and a semi-detached property each with 3-bedrooms), with double garages, associated
parking and gardens on land to the south of The Street, Beeston. Two of the units are proposed to be
affordable units. The proposed dwellings would be constructed of clay pantiles for the roof and red bricks with
areas of cladding and flint detailing for the walls. The proposal involves the creation of a new access onto
The Street.

The previous application, 3PL/2015/1355/F for the same proposal was refused and dismissed at appeal by
the Planning Inspectorate. The Planning Inspector refused the application on the grounds of unsustainable
development stating that given the principle of development was not acceptable, there was no reason to
address the other matters that had been raised.

SITE AND LOCATION

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 28



 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

Not required.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

- 3PL/2017/0289/F: Residential Development for 6no. dwellings (Inc. 2no affordable housing) with associated
access drive, parking area, garaging & amenity space - Withdrawn

- 3PL/2015/1355/F: Erection of 6 no. dwellings - Refused 26 January 2017 and Dismissed at Appeal on 31
August 2017

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.01 Housing
CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.05 Developer Obligations
CP.06 Green Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.12 Energy
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.11 Open Space
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

The application site is located outside, but adjacent to, the Settlement Boundary for Beeston. The site 
currently forms part of a larger agricultural field with the boundaries to the north and west consisting of a 
mature hedgerow. The site is bounded to the north by The Street and beyond residential dwellings, to the 
west by Herne Lane, to the south by the existing larger field within the applicants ownership and beyond Ash 
Tree Farm, and to the east by residential dwellings.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 29



 

 

 

DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not applicable.

CONSULTATIONS

BEESTON P C
The parish council would like to see a better mix of houses with red brick and flint materials used
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
This submission includes the previously requested visibility improvements and off site highway works.

The site lies in a village with limited facilities and it is considered that there would be a high reliance of
travelling by private car to access amenities and services to meet every day needs.

However the submission includes a proposal improve the level of visibility from Herne Lane onto The Street
which will be of benefit to highway safety.

In addition the submission also includes a proposal to surface the area of overrun outside the village hall to
cater for the increase in vehicular traffic using this part of the highway network.

The land in question does not form part of the highway and I understand it it owed by Beeston Playing Field
Committee. Because this land lies in third party ownership, the Highway Authority suggests that the land is
dedicated as highway before any work is allowed to start on site. This will ensure that the land is available
and that the off-site works may be delivered. A suitably worded condition will need to be imposed in this
respect.

Conditions and informatives are recommended if the application is approved.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection, subject to condition.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
Recommend conditions if the application is approved.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
The supplied survey clearly identifies that the hedge is over 30 years old and 20 metres in length. The survey
has also identified that the hedgerow includes sufficient woody species (6) and associated features (3) as
specified in schedule 1 paragraph 7 of the regulations for it to qualify as an important hedgerow. Whilst the
survey does suggest that the status of the hedge is inconclusive due to infill planting, I am not aware of
anything within the regulations which refers to this, and that it is only necessary for the hedgerow as a whole
to be over 30 years. Maps held at Norfolk County Council Records Office show the site to be part of a field
system that existed prior to 1845. Map C/SCA 2/187 dated 1814 clearly shows the meadow as an integral
part of a field system pre-dating the Inclosure Acts. The hedgerow is positioned on the boundary of land

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 30



 

 

 
REPRESENTATIONS

A Site Notice was displayed on 22nd May 2018, advertised in the EDP and 17 neighbours were directly
notified.

Fourteen representations have been received; 10 objecting and 4 providing comments. These can be
summarised as follows:

- Site is outside of the Settlement Boundary;
- This is the same as the previously refused application that was dismissed at appeal - what has changed?
- Set a precedent;
- These are large properties, with no affordable housing and no justification why these are needed;
- There is no shortfall in the size of dwellings being proposed in the village;
- Traffic/highway safety;
- Loss of view;
- Drainage and flooding problems exist;
- Issues with surface water drainage and sewer treatment;
- Detrimental impact upon ecology;
- There are no facilities in the area;
- The statement overstates the available facilities in both Beeston and Litcham - Dereham and Swaffham is
relied upon for shopping and other services;
- The distances stated are incorrect;
- the established hedgerow would be ripped out and ecological habitat destroyed;
- If the owner is desperate for money, we would be willing to buy the land rather than see it developed;

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

which at the time was owned by J.G Booty. The 1845 Inclosure Act required that boundaries of individually 
allotted land were inclosed. In Norfolk the most common way of achieving this would have Hawthorn
hedging. It would seem highly likely that the hedgerow at Herne Lane would therefore also meet the criteria 
for being important under schedule 1 paragraph 5. Given the above it is considered that the hedgerow meets 
the criteria set out in the hedgerow regulations for it to qualify as being important. The hedgerow contributes 
positively to the character and interest of the landscape as well as playing an important role in enhancing and
conserving biological diversity, it should be retained.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
In line with the new NPPF (2018), affordable housing provision is required. As a result, there is an objection
to the current proposal because no affordable housing is proposed.
HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE
Based on currently available information, the proposed development will not have any significant impact on
the historic environment and we do not wish to make any recommendations for archaeological work.
CPRE NORFOLK
Objects to the proposal on the grounds that the proposal is outside of the Settlement Boundary, not allocated 
for housing, is not sustainable development, no affordable housing provision, loss of the important hedgerow
and detrimental impact on the countryside.
NORFOLK FIRE & RESCUE SERVICE
Norfolk Fire and Rescue Service recommend a condition for the provision of a fire hydrant.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 31



 
ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of Development

1.1 This application seeks permission for the erection of six two storey dwellings (comprising four detached
properties and a semi-detached property; the semi-detached property would for the two affordable housing
units) with double garages, associated parking and gardens on land to the south of The Street, Beeston.

1.2 The site is located outside the Beeston Settlement Boundary. For this reason, the proposal conflicts, in
principle, with Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document, (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement
Boundaries. However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) states that where an authority does not have an up-
to-date Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of
housing, as referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be
considered in the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 The Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply as at 31st March 2017 was published in July 2017.

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

- Queries why it was advertised in the local village book and not known about to attend the Parish Council 
meeting;
- Dismay that the Parish Council do not object when they objected to the previous application and thus not 
supporting the views of the village;
- Out-of-date reports;
- CPRE's objection agreed with;
- Inaccurate and misleading Statements.

The description of development was amended to reflect the creation of an access onto The Street and 
revised plans were submitted on 11th June 2018 reducing the footprint of the dwellings so that they are 
below the threshold for the requirement for affordable dwellings. However, following the introduction of the 
NPPF in July 2018, the site is of a scale that requires two affordable housing units. The applicant has revised 
the plan and submitted a plan indicating the two units that would be affordable housing.

This information has been reconsulted upon and the deadline has not ended at the time of writing, although 
additional comments have been received, which reiterate the above comments as well as the following:

- Post Consultation Document factually incorrect and gross inaccuracies re proximities;
- Drainage problems still not addressed;
- Great Crested Newt survey not updated and no explanation why;
- No information about the affordable housing and what it means for the development;
- Amendments do not address the concerns raised or original reasons for refusal;
- Detrimental to the character and appearance of the landscape;
- No need for more housing in Beeston;
- Increase in traffic and dangerous entrance will cause accidents;
- So many changes now, this should be a new application so that it is clear what the proposal is;
- Ambiguity in the additional information;
- Disingenuous to base an argument about the Ploughshare Public House on speculation.

If any further new representations are received, these will be reported in the Supplementary Report or at 
Committee.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 32



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

This outlined that the District does not benefit from having a five year supply of housing land (it can only 
demonstrate a 4.6 years housing land supply). In these cases the NPPF makes provision, in principle, for 
Local Planning Authorities to positively consider sites that are not within defined Settlement Boundaries. This 
must be balanced against other policy requirements and aims including securing sustainable development, 
protecting the countryside, and good design.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The 
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8). These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

- an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that 
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, 
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

- a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and 
range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a
well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and 
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and

- an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, 
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.5 A balanced assessment against these roles is, therefore, required.

1.6 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF notes that development in one village may help support the services in a 
nearby village. The site lies within the Parish of Beeston. Beeston is defined by Policy SS1 as a rural 
settlement that has "few, or in some cases no, local services". Beeston has a primary school and village hall. 
Litcham, a local service centre is approximately 3.22km (2.6miles) from the site. It is, therefore, considered 
that the proposal would not significantly support the services of nearby villages. Dereham (approximately
10.62km/6.6miles) and Swaffham (approximately 14.48km/9miles) are mid-sized market towns, which
provide a "good range of services for their residents' day-to-day needs".

1.7 Beeston is classified as a lower tier rural settlement in the Local Plan, and Policy SS1 identifies it as a 
settlement considered not capable of sustaining consequential growth as it is reliant on higher order 
settlements for services and facilities. Such settlements are generally considered to be unsuitable for 
significant growth due to their small size and dependence on larger settlements for the majority of facilities. 
The village benefits from a primary school, village hall, playing field, some employment uses, and very limited 
public transport. The village used to benefit from a Public House, although this has closed down (the 
submission makes reference to villagers trying to save the Public House, but the fact is that the Public House 
remains closed). In this respect, the proposed residential scheme would not represent an accessible form of 
development and would result in a high reliance upon the private vehicle.

1.8 For these reasons occupants of the dwelling would rely on the use of the private car to gain access to 
local facilities to meet everyday needs. This would not accord with the core planning principle in paragraph
11 of the National Planning Policy Framework which is to actively manage patterns of growth to make the 
fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling. The proposal would also not accord with 
paragraph 103 of the Framework in terms of ensuring the need to travel will be minimised and the use of

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 33



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

sustainable transport modes will be maximised. Further to this paragraph 79 states that housing should be 
located where it will maintain the viability of rural communities and isolated dwellings in the countryside 
should be avoided.

1.9 A proposal for six dwellings on this site was refused in January 2017 and dismissed at appeal
(APP/F2605/W/17/3171002) on 31st August 2017. The Inspector stated that:

"... Beeston is some 7 miles from Dereham, which is the administration centre of Mid-Norfolk, and about 2 
miles from the service centre village of Litcham which has a combined post office and general store. I noted 
that although Beeston has a school and village hall, the public house has recently closed and there are no 
shops. The evidence before me also indicates that local employment opportunities on the nearby industrial 
estate are retracting rather than expanding and at my visit there appeared to be very limited activity on the 
roads or in nearby gardens. Nor did I notice any footways along the main road through the village, and public 
transport is limited to a single bus service in both directions on Tuesday and Fridays only".

1.10 The Inspector continued to state that they were "not satisfied that the limited amenities in Litcham would 
be adequate to provide day to day needs and as such, future occupiers of the development would be reliant 
on travelling further afield for most facilities and services. Furthermore, the lanes linking Beeston to other 
settlements pass through open agricultural land and the lane to Litcham is single lane with passing places,
so opportunities for walking or cycling would be limited. As such, the development would generate significant 
traffic to access even basic facilities and given the very limited public transport options, it is highly likely that 
these journeys would be made by private vehicles".

1.11 At paragraph 9, the Inspector appreciated "that there would be some short term and localised economic 
benefit from the development but I am not satisfied that this would outweigh the harm identified above in 
relation to the increase in journeys and the reliance on unsustainable modes of transport. I conclude that 
Beeston is almost entirely dependent on higher order settlements for services and facilities and that the site
is not in a sustainable location.

1.12 The proposals would not meet any of the criteria listed in Policy CP14 for development in villages not 
identified for a specific level of growth in the settlement hierarchy. It would also be contrary to Policies SS1 
and DC2 which taken together, restrict residential development to specific settlements and to land within
settlement boundaries, as well as guidance in the Framework with regard to sustainable development".

1.13 The Inspector proceeded with:

"12. I appreciate that Paragraph 55 of the Framework states that housing should be located where it will 
enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. However, it is apparent that there are minimal facilities 
in Beeston and limited facilities in Litcham. I appreciate that this is an area of scattered villages in a rural 
context, but even by these standards, I consider Beeston to be fairly remote from amenities and services".

1.14 The applicant's agent made reference to the fact that the application should be granted approval 
because Litcham provides day-to-day services and that the site is not "isolated" as set out in Paragraph 55 of 
the NPPF and provided a copy of the High Court Judgement between Braintree District Council and
SoSCLG, Greyread Ltd and Granville Developments Ltd (15 November 2017) and the subsequent Appeal 
Court Judgement (28 March 2018).

1.15 The Council is not stating that the site for the six dwellings is "isolated" and the Council does not 
disagree with the High Court judgement. Nevertheless, as outlined in the Inspectors' appeal decisions above, 
Beeston is remote from amenities and services. It is that the fact that the proposal does not meet the tests of

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 34



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

sustainability and that in recent appeal decisions, the Inspectors dismissed appeals because Beeston was 
unsustainable.

1.16 In a more recent appeal decision (APP/F2605/W/17/3182476, 28th November 2017), the Inspector 
dismissed an appeal for two dwellings in Beeston, stating that:

"7. Beeston village ... has a limited range of services, including a school and public house. The distances
from the appeal site to these services, along mainly unlit roads without pavements, would not make these 
conveniently accessible by means other than private car.

8. Paragraph 55 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) states that to promote 
sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the 
vitality of rural communities; for example, where there are groups of smaller settlements, development in one 
village may support services in a village nearby. I am not persuaded that the two dwellings in the location 
would provide any material support to the vitality of the rural community in Beeston and consider occupiers 
here would be unduly reliant on private car journeys to meet regular needs.

9. The proposal would be in the countryside, outside the settlement boundary for Beeston, and conflict with 
the aims of CSDCP policies SS1, CP14 and DC2 in respect of where new housing should be built. These 
policies are broadly consistent with the core principle of the Framework to actively manage patterns of growth 
to make the fullest possible use of public transport, walking and cycling, and focus significant development in 
locations which are or can be made sustainable. These policies are therefore afforded significant weight".

1.17 With regard to the benefits of the proposed development, it is noted that there would be some social and 
economic benefits through the provision of six dwellings; there would also be generation of labour in the
short term during construction. However, given appeal decisions, including the dismissal of an appeal for the 
same development on this site and the most recent appeal decision (APP/F2605/W/17/3188621) issued on 
6th September 2018, confirming that Beeston is unsustainable for development, holds significant weight in 
the determination of applications. The proposed development is not considered to be significant either 
individually or cumulatively and would not outweigh the conflict with the core policies in the development plan 
that manage sustainable growth across the district nor the NPPF. As a result, the development would not be 
sustainable development in the context of relevant local and national planning policies and thus the principle 
of development is unacceptable.

1.18 The main issues of consideration are whether there are any material consideration that would outweigh 
the principle of development, including the design and impact on the character and appearance of the
surrounding area, impact on trees and ecology and highway safety.

2.0 Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Surrounding Area and Trees and Hedgerow

2.1 The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and 
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment.  Consideration of a development's impact on the 
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental 
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2 Policy DC16 on Design expects all new development should achieve the highest standards of design. 
This is echoed in the NPPF. All design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an
area. Policy CP11 on Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape sets out that the landscape of the 
District will be protected for the sake of its own intrinsic beauty. Policy DC1 on Protection of Amenity sets out 
that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the area.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 35



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

Paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2018) states that permission should be refused for development of poor design 
that fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the way it 
functions. Policy DC12 seeks to protect the District's Trees and Hedges.

2.3 The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and 
enhancing the natural, build and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the 
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore integral to the environmental 
dimension of sustainable development, as is design.

2.4 Although outside the Settlement Boundary, it is noted the site adjoins the existing built up part of the 
village on The Street, with relatively recently constructed housing immediately to the north and east. There is 
also further built development at Hill Farm to the west. Development of the site for housing would not, 
therefore, result in an isolated development. In terms of environmental considerations, it is noted the
proposal would have the effect of consolidating existing development on The Street and extending the built 
form into an area of open land. This would result in loss of rural character to the immediate locality.

2.5 The application site forms part of a larger field which expands to the south of the site. The application 
proposes six dwellings to be located as frontage development along The Street and Herne Lane, with one 
access to serve them all from The Street. The layout of the development incorporates the existing pond on 
site and parts of the existing hedging along the boundary. Part of the hedging is to be removed to allow for 
visibility from the proposed access and to also improve visibility from Herne Lane. This is to be replaced with 
new hedging.

2.6 Policy DC12 seeks to protect the district's trees and hedges. The Tree and Countryside Officer has 
advised that the supplied survey clearly identifies that the hedge is over 30 years old and 20 metres in length. 
The survey has also identified that the hedgerow includes sufficient woody species (6) and associated 
features (3) as specified in Schedule 1, Paragraph 7 of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (as amended) for it
to qualify as an "important hedgerow". Whilst the survey does suggest that the status of the hedge is 
inconclusive due to infill planting, there is nothing within the Regulations which refers to this, and that it is
only necessary for the hedgerow, as a whole to be over 30 years.

2.7 Maps held at Norfolk County Council Records Office show the site to be part of a field system that existed 
prior to 1845. Map C/SCA 2/187, dated 1814, clearly shows the meadow as an integral part of a field system 
pre-dating the Inclosure Acts. The hedgerow is positioned on the boundary of land which, at the time, was 
owned by J.G Booty. The 1845 Inclosure Act required that boundaries of individually allotted land were
"inclosed" (now referred to as "enclosed"). In Norfolk, the most common way of achieving this would have 
been Hawthorn hedging. It would seem highly likely that the hedgerow at Herne Lane would, therefore, also 
meet the criteria for being important under Schedule 1 Paragraph 5 of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (as 
amended). Given this, it is considered that the hedgerow meets the criteria set out in the Hedgerow 
Regulations for it to qualify as being important. The hedgerow contributes positively to the character and 
interest of the landscape as well as playing an important role in enhancing and conserving biological
diversity, it should be retained.

2.8 Important hedgerows are afforded extra protection, as are trees the subject of a Tree Preservation Order, 
and thus an assessment needs to be made. The document submitted by the applicant's agent did not make 
reference to the NCC Record Office's historic maps, as is required to be undertaken in order to determine 
whether or not a hedgerow is important.

2.9 The previous application reported that it was considered that the layout and scale of the development 
helps to ensure the generally spacious and rural character of the locality is maintained and would not result

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 36



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

in overdevelopment of the site. The proposed dwellings would be constructed of clay pantiles for the roof and 
red bricks with areas of cladding and flint detailing for the walls, which was also deemed acceptable and in 
keeping with the surrounding area.

2.10 The Council previously accepted that the design was acceptable in this location and there are no 
material considerations that would mean that this view is altered in terms of the design of the dwellings.

2.11 However, in the context of the above, the proposal would be contrary to policies SS1, DC2, CP14 of the 
Core Strategy and the site is not considered to be in a sustainable location and is inconsistent with the social 
and environmental dimensions of sustainable development. In addition, the hedgerow is an important 
hedgerow as defined in law and its removal would have a detrimental impact on the historic nature and the 
character and interest of the landscape contrary to the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (as amended) and 
Policies DC12 and CP11. This consideration alongside the policy objection weigh significantly against the
proposal.

3.0 Amenity Impact

3.1 Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to 
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable 
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2 The Council, in the previous application, considered that, in terms of neighbour amenity, given the scale 
of the proposal, proposed separation distances, and existing/proposed boundary treatments that the
proposal would not impact significantly upon neighbour amenity in terms of loss of light, privacy or 
overlooking.

3.3 Despite this, it should be noted that the amenity space afforded to Plot 2 is very small and limited and 
does not reflect the character and appearance of the area. This could be argued for Plot 1 as well.

3.4 However, despite concerns regarding the amenity space afforded to Plots 1 and 2, given that the 
proposal is the same as previously submitted, whereby the Council considered it to be acceptable, the
proposal is considered to comply with Policy DC1.

4.0 Impact on Ecology

4.1 Policy CP10 seeks to protect the natural environment including protected species and Policy CP11 seeks 
the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty and benefit to the rural 
character. Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic and biodiversity qualities 
of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of individual or groups of 
natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers, streams or other 
topographical features.

4.2 The ecologist originally advised that the survey data contained in the Ecological Surveys Reports
(Anglian Ecology; October 2015) were out-of-date and advised what was required of the applicant.

4.3 In response to the amended information, the Ecologist advised that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
Validation Assessment (Parker Planning Services; June 2018) report states 'habitats within the site were 
generally in accordance with the findings in the original Ecological Survey report (Anglian Ecology, 2015). At 
the time of the review, the grassland was grazed by a small number of sheep, but probably is more 
representative of semi-improved grassland. The conclusions relating to the potential for protected and

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 37



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

notable species presented within the original PEA report remain relevant as the habitats within the site have 
not significantly changed since its publication. The mitigation requirements within the original ecology report
(Anglian Ecology, 2015) are generally still valid.'

4.4 The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Validation Assessment (Parker Planning Services; June 2018)
report highlights 'great crested newts have been identified in the onsite pond and other ponds within 500m of 
the site. A medium population has been identified which is a reasonable population estimate and fairly typical 
for the area. As great crested newts are present within the onsite pond and their immediate terrestrial habitat 
will be impacted by the development, a European Protected Species Mitigation (EPSM) licence will be 
required.' The Ecologist agrees with the proposed mitigation measures outlined in the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Validation Assessment (Parker Planning Services; June 2018).

4.5 The great crested newt surveys undertaken by Arbtech in 2016 are now two years old and have
exceeded the accepted period for acquiring an EPSM licence from Natural England. The EPSM licence 
application will require updated great crested newt surveys to be carried out in the approved survey period in 
2019 (mid-March to mid-June).

4.6 The majority of trees on the site are proposed for retention, however the Arboricultural Impact 
Assessment shows a few trees on the site are proposed for removal (Robert Thackray Ltd.; November 2015). 
The Ecological Surveys report (Anglian Ecology; October 2015) classified the trees as having high potential 
for roosting bats and concludes 'if any mature trees are to be removed then bat activity surveys need to be 
conducted to ensure there is no bat roost within the tree or to inform any necessary mitigation if bats are 
present'. Additional information was provided by Riverdale Ecology on the 19th July 2018 relating to potential 
bat roosts in trees. The trees were assessed as having negligible potential for roosting bats and therefore no 
further survey work is required. A mature Ash tree, T18, does have two potential roost features. Pruning of 
limbs over the site is required then a prior aerial survey and detailed inspection of these features will be 
required.

4.7 The Ecological Surveys report (Anglian Ecology, 2015) highlights the north hedgerow is to be removed to 
create a visibility display along The Street. There are no mature trees in this hedgerow but it is an important 
wildlife resource, particularly for breeding birds. Removal must be done outside the breeding bird season,
and if the timing is otherwise then a suitably qualified ecologist must check the hedgerow sections prior to 
removal for breeding birds. The eastern hedgerow with trees is an important mature hedgerow. Any removal 
of this hedgerow would require an inspection by a suitably qualified ecologist beforehand and bat/breeding 
bird surveys.

4.8 It is highly likely that several species of bat are utilising the mature trees along the eastern hedgerow and 
to the north east corner of the site as commuting foraging and potentially roosting sites. The north and west 
hedgerows are potentially commuting routes, and the mature trees around the pond (itself an important 
habitat are likely to be utilize by bat species. There are records of bat species within the immediate area. 
There must be no usage of powerful PIR controlled spotlights or security lighting on this site before, during,
or after works because light spillage may affect potential bat roosting or commuting habitats. The mature ash 
trees around the pond are to retained where possible, except for where they represent an immediate hazard 
or they directly obstruct the development and cannot be retained using root protection measures.

4.9 The Ecologist supports the proposed mitigation measure of a new native species hedgerow of similar or 
more diversity planted to compensate for the loss of the north boundary hedgerow.

4.10 There is suitable habitat available on the site for nesting birds in the form of scrub, trees and
hedgerows. Any vegetation clearance needs to be subject to a timing constraint.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 38



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

4.11 Conditions are recommend should permission be granted. As a result, the proposal complies with policy
in relation to the impact on protected species.

5.0 Impact upon Highway Safety

5.1 The NPPF requires new developments to provide safe and suitable access to the site for all people. 
Policy CP4 seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new developments.

5.2 The Highway Authority has advised that this submission includes the previously requested visibility 
improvements and off site highway works.

5.3 The site lies in a village with limited facilities and it is considered that there would be a high reliance of 
travelling by private car to access amenities and services to meet every day needs.

5.4 However, the submission includes a proposal improve the level of visibility from Herne Lane onto The 
Street which will be of benefit to highway safety.

5.5 In addition the submission also includes a proposal to surface the area of overrun outside the village hall 
to cater for the increase in vehicular traffic using this part of the highway network.

5.6 The land in question does not form part of the highway and the Highway Authority understands that it is 
owned by Beeston Playing Field Committee. Given that this land lies in third party ownership, the Highway 
Authority suggests that the land is dedicated as highway before any work is allowed to start on site. This will 
ensure that the land is available and that the off-site works may be delivered. A suitably worded condition 
would be required.

5.7 In terms of highway safety in relation to the proposal and area, the proposal would comply with Policy
CP13 and the NPPF.

5.8 However, with regard to the off-site highways work (to surface the area of overrun outside the village
hall), this is not referred to in the description of development nor the submitted documentation other than 
forming a small part of one of the plans. Whilst the submission states that this is to cater for the increase in 
vehicular traffic using this part of the highway network, it does not demonstrate its location in relation to the 
proposed development.

5.9 The provision of the off-site highways work, although could be viewed as a benefit, is not necessary to 
enable this proposal to proceed. As a result, such a condition could not be imposed and would not be an
over-riding reason to approve the proposal.

6.0 Other Matters

6.1 Policy DC17 seeks to protect the District's historic environment. The Historic Environment Service 
advised that, based upon currently available information, the proposed development will not have any 
significant impact on the historic environment and they do not wish to make any recommendations for 
archaeological work.

6.2 Policy CP9 seeks to protect the district from pollution and waste. The Contaminated Land Officer 
commented on the application and recommends the imposition of a conditions. As a result, the proposal 
would comply with Policy CP9.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 39



REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

6.3 Issues regarding drainage were raised. However, the site lies within Flood Zone 1 where the risk to 
flooding is identified as minimal. Conditions can be imposed and the Building Regulation process would have 
to be satisfied that the drainage is appropriate. As a result, the proposal, subject to conditions, would comply 
with Policy DC13.

6.4 Following the publication of the revised NPPF (2018), the Housing Enabling Officer advised that the site 
area and number of dwellings proposed trigger the thresholds of the Council's affordable housing policy as 
per DC4 of the Council's Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan 
Document. At present a 40% provision is required on sites capable of accommodating 5 or more dwellings 
and/or 0.17ha. This is then further split into 65% being made available for rent and 35% for shared
ownership, shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the intermediate definition within
NPPF, meets an identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council.

6.5 However, the NPPF states that affordable housing should only be sought on developments of 10 or more 
dwellings or 0.5ha. In this instance two units would be required based on a site of 6no dwellings and over
0.5ha. This would consist of 1unit for rent and 1 for intermediate housing. The affordable housing mix i.e. unit 
types, layout etc. will need to be addressed in the application. The Housing Enabling Officer recommended 
that, in order to best meet an identified housing need, mainly smaller units i.e. 2bed 4 person unit is provided 
but noted that housing need is not static and, therefore, the affordable housing mix may change as time 
progresses particularly if there is a significant delay. The affordable housing should be integrated into 
residential layouts to provide a distribution of affordable housing within the development site that will enhance 
community cohesion. All affordable units should meet the required standards, and any that do not are likely
to result in an objection from the Housing Enabling Team. The affordable units must be transferred to a 
Registered Provider of Affordable Housing agreed by the Council at a price that requires no form of public 
subsidy. A S106 Agreement would be required to secure the affordable housing contribution.

6.6 The applicant's agent confirmed that the applicant would provide two affordable dwellings and, on 7th 
September 2018, the applicant's agent submitted a revised plan illustrating this. The Housing Enabling
Officer has been reconsulted and the consultation period is taking place at the time of writing. Members will
be updated in the Supplementary Report or at Committee.

7.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion

7.1 The site is outside the Beeston Settlement Boundary and therefore the proposal does not accord with 
Policies SS1, CP14 and DC2 of the adopted Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control 
Policies Development Plan Document and the NPPF (in particular paragraphs 11, 12, 14, 79 and 103).

7.2 Several appeals have been determined by the Planning Inspectorate, all have confirmed that Beeston is 
not a sustainable area, including the site the subject of this current application.

7.3 In addition, an Important Hedgerow would be lost and would be detrimental to the rural character and 
appearance of the area, especially given this is a prominent location into the village contrary to Policies DC12 
and CP11 of the adopted Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document (2009) and the NPPF (in particular paragraph 170).

7.4 There are no material considerations that would outweigh this. As a result the proposed development is,
therefore, not considered sustainable and would be contrary to paragraphs 11, 12 and 14 of the NPPF.

7.5 The application is, therefore, recommended for refusal.

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 40



 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION Refusal of Planning Permission

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Unsustainable Development
The site is situated in an unsustainable location and thus contrary to Policies SS1, CP14 and
DC2 of the adopted Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document (2009) and the three dimensions of sustainable development
outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework (in particular paragraphs 11, 12, 14 and
79). There are no material planning considerations that would outweigh this harm.

2 Harm to Protected Hedgerow
The boundary hedgerow, is an Important Hedgerow, as defined under Schedule 1,
Paragraph 7 of the Hedgerow Regulations 1997 (as amended). The proposed development
would involve the loss of the Important Hedgerow and thus would be detrimental to the rural
character and appearance of the area, especially given this is a prominent location into the
village. As a result, the the proposal is contrary to Policies DC12 and CP11 of the adopted
Breckland Council Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document (2009) and the NPPF (2018) (in particular Paragraph 170).

REPORT FROM PREVIOUS PLANNING COMMITTEE - 1st October 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 41



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2017/1603/O CASE OFFICER Carl Griffiths

LOCATION: FOULDEN APPNTYPE: Outline
Site at School Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Foulden ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Derek Hales Ltd. .
9 School Road Foulden

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parsons & Whittley Ltd
1 London Street Swaffham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Proposed residential development

DEFERRED REASON

This application was considered by the Planning Committee at the meeting of 2nd July 2018.  It was resolved
to grant planning permission subject to conditions and a S106 legal agreement.  The formal planning
decision has not yet been issued and the application remains undetermined at this time.

A Pre-Action Protocol Letter of 12th September 2018 was received by the Council from Richard Buxton
Environmental & Public Law ("PAP Letter"). The PAP Letter threatened a claim for judicial review on behalf of
Marianne Christian, a local resident.

The Council in conjunction with its legal advisors considered the contents of the PAP Letter and it was felt
that following review of the grounds of potential challenge raised in the PAP Letter relating to the publication
of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF 2) on 24th July 2018 and the interpretation and
application of guidance contained therein, the Council considers it expedient and prudent to return the
application to Members for re-consideration.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

Outside settlement boundary - contrary to policy.

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

In response to one of the issues highlighted in the PAP letter, the applicant now proposes to provide a
footpath that would improve pedestrian access with the wider village and link the development site to local
services, including the village hall.  The footpath is shown running in between Plots 20 and 21 eastwards
towards the existing recreation ground.  The proposed path would 'spur' in a northerly direction to link up with
the existing unmade path running down from Uptons Way and provide a southern 'spur' running adjacent to
the eastern boundary of 'The Old Coachyard' 29 Vicarage Road, continuing along the southern boundary of
the recreation ground and terminating with a potential extension across the soft verge onto the metalled
highway opposite Foulden Village Hall.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 42

Agenda Item 9c



 

 

 

 

Whilst this footpath does not form part of the formal application for consideration by members, the applicant
has confirmed that they are happy to provide it,

SITE AND LOCATION

The site extends to approximately 1 hectare and relates to a section of a field located in the centre of
Foulden. The site is a flat section of pasture land which has been used for the grazing of horses. The plot of
land is almost totally surrounded on all sides by residential properties and is enclosed by a post and rail
fence. The most significant flank of the site has a frontage onto School Road, separated from the roadway a
deep grass verge.

Foulden is located on the western extremes of the District and is designated in the Local Plan as a rural
village. The site is outside but adjacent to the settlement boundary. There are some limited local services
such as a village hall and public house and limited public transport provision. Under the emerging Local Plan,
Foulden would remain a rural settlement. Norfolk fens SAC is approximately 0.4km to the west of the site,
Breckland Forest SSSI is located 1.4km to the east of the site.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate
The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application. The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance have also been taken into account where appropriate.

CP1 - Housing
CP10 - Natural Environment
CP05 - Developer Contributions
CP06 - Green Infrastructure
CP11 - Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP14 - Sustainable Rural Communities
DC01 - Protection of Amenity
DC02 - Principles of New Housing
DC04 - Affordable Housing Principles
DC11 - Open Space
DC12 - Trees and Landscape
DC13 - Flood Risk

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 43



 

DC16 - Design
DC17 - Historic Environment
DC19 - Parking Provision
SS1 - Spatial Strategy
NPPF - National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG - National Planning Policy Guidance

It is important to note that the NPPF 2 was published on 24th July 2018 following the resolution to grant
planning permission on 2nd July 2018.  It is a material consideration in the determination of planning
applications as was the original NPPF (2012).

Paragraph 7 of NPPF 2 sets out that the purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable
development.  To that end, Paragraph 8 defines the three objectives that are interdependent and to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways.

Paragraph 9 sets out that
"decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so
should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and opportunities of each area."

Paragraph 10 states that at the heart of the Framework lies a "presumption in favour of sustainable
development."

The Council's emerging Local Plan remains under consideration as part of the Examination process and as
such carries limited weight.  In these circumstances Paragraph 11 c) and d) of NPPF 2 apply as there is no
up-to-date development plan and hence planning permission should be granted unless:
"any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when
assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole."

Paragraph 78 of NPPF2 refers to housing being located where "it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural
communities."  Paragraph 79 reinforces this stance by making clear that developments of isolated homes
should be avoided.

Paragraph 102 c) identifies that "opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are
identified and pursued;"

Paragraph 109 states that:
"Development should only be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would be an unacceptable
impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe."

Paragraph 110 in parts a) and b) are of relevance to this scheme and consider that development schemes
should:
" a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme and with neighbouring
areas;
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to all modes of transport;"

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

The following obligations were agreed as part of the report previously reported to committee:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 44



 

 

·Libraries - £1575
·Fire Hydrant Contribution - £815
·40% of the dwellings to be provided as affordable housing with a tenure split of 65% affordable rented
products and 35% shared ownership products
·Education contribution of £23478

It should be noted that the applicant has agreed to provide all of the above through a Section 106
Agreement. In addition, an obligation would  be included relating to the provision of the footpath - details of
which are discussed fully in the subsequent sections of this report.

CONSULTATIONS

FOULDEN P C
Objection, concern that this is an excessive increase to the village and local services, road network,
sewerage, electricity etc. will not be able to cope. There is very limited public transport provision in the
village. Foulden already has a high percentage of social housing. There is no public transport and therefore
no access for travel to work, doctors, dentists, shops etc. Anyone being placed in the village will be extremely
isolated, which will undoubtedly result in further social problems. The number of units is excessive and would
remove the green heart of the village. The proposed scheme would be out of character. Should the
application be heard before committee we would like to make representations.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
We have no objections to the proposal. The site is located above a Principal Aquifer and within Source
Protection Zone (SPZ) 3. If the use of deep bore soakaways is proposed, we would wish to be re-consulted.
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of the Foulden Water Recycling Centre
Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these flows. The sewerage system at present has
available capacity for these flows.  Development will lead to an unacceptable risk of flooding downstream. A
drainage strategy will need to be prepared in consultation with Anglian Water to determine mitigation
measures.  We request a condition requiring the drainage strategy covering the issue(s) to be agreed.
The proposed development site lies outside the district of any of the Water Management Alliance Internal
Drainage Boards or their contributing highland catchment. As such I do not have any comments to make
regarding this application.
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment. This is because the proposal is for less than 100 dwellings or 2 ha in size and is not within a
surface water flow path as defined by Environment Agency mapping. If you are aware of a particular surface
water flooding issue at this location which requires further bespoke advice, please re-consult detailing the
perceived nature of flooding or details of flooding that has occurred.
NATURAL ENGLAND
Natural England advises your authority that the proposal, if undertaken in strict accordance with the details
submitted, is not likely to have a significant effect on the interest features for which Breckland SPA and SAC
have been classified. Natural England therefore advises that your Authority is not required to undertake an
Appropriate Assessment to assess the implications of this proposal on the site's conservation objectives.
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
To work in harmony with high levels of natural surveillance, a carefully designed lighting plan to cover all

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 45



vulnerable areas should be in place. The homes themselves should be designed to incorporate the Part Two
Physical Security elements of the Secured by Design Award detailed in the guide. I would be pleased to work
with the agent or developer to ensure that the proposed development incorporates all of the required
elements.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
There are limited local facilities, no primary school or employment in Foulden and limited public transport,
such that Foulden cannot be considered a sustainable location suitable for any residential development.
Whilst the immediate highway network adjacent the site may be suitable to cater for additional two way traffic
the wider network, including links to the catchment primary school, links to the village hall and links to the
strategic highway network, is inadequate by reason of its restricted width, lack of passing provision and
inadequate pedestrian provision.

Whilst the revised plan (3254.05.RevB) includes additional footway provision this is limited to the site
frontage.  Links to key local services would remain largely unchanged and there would remain no safe
walking route to the catchment primary school.  The footpath to the east of the site would link with a private
drive and involve the general public walking across private land to access it, something they would have no
right to do.  Furthermore, there appears to be no existing or proposed path through the playing field.  As a
consequence, this is unlikely to be an attractive route available for use at all times of the year. In summary,
the revised plan does not address the reasons for refusal and our recommendation remains unchanged.
OBLIGATIONS OFFICER, NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL
The County Council would have concerns if funding for the attached list of infrastructure requirements could
not adequately be addressed/delivered through S106 and/or condition.

Education
There is spare capacity at Primary and High school levels but there is no local childcare in the Early
Education sector, therefore County Council's Childrens Services will be seeking developer contributions in
line with costs set out within this correspondence.

The contributions will be used to fund the following project:
Identified projects
- Early Education Nursery place accommodation for new Early Years provision.

Library Provision
A development of 21 dwellings would place increased pressure on the existing library service particularly in
relation to library stock, such as books and information technology. This stock is required to increase the
capacity of the library. It has been calculated that a development of this scale would require a total
contribution of 1,575 pounds (i.e. 75 pounds per dwelling). This contribution will be spent on library stock and
equipment for mobile service DER243.

Fire Service
With reference to the proposed development, taking into account the location and infrastructure already in
place, our minimum requirement would be 1 fire hydrant on no less than a 90mm main at a cost of 815
pounds.

Environment
Green infrastructure should be included within the proposed site in line with local policy. Connections into the
local Green Infrastructure (GI) network, including Public Rights of Way and ecological features, should be
considered alongside the potential impacts of development. We would advise the Local Planning Authority

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 46



that a maintenance/mitigation contribution or commuted sum for new and existing GI features may be
required in addition to the County response, in order comply with local policy. Thus allowing the local GI
network to facilitate the development without receiving negative impact and equally, allow the development to
integrate and enhance the existing network.

General Comments
Fraxinus excelsior (Ash) is listed in the PEA Appendix G as a species suitable for planting and sowing. This
is not an appropriate species due to Chalara dieback of ash. This has been noted by the applicant and such
a species is not proposed for use on the site.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Officers have screened this application and it falls below our current threshold for providing detailed
comment. This is because the proposal is for less than 100 dwellings or 2 ha in size and is not within a
surface water flow path as defined by Environment Agency mapping. If you are aware of a particular surface
water flooding issue at this location which requires further bespoke advice, please re-consult detailing the
perceived nature of flooding or details of flooding that has occurred.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Aerial pictures show trees on the eastern and southern boundary. A tree survey should be provided at outline
stage to help inform layout. An arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection plan will be required
based on final layout. This must be in accordance with BS5837:2012. It should be noted that a tree survey
was submitted with the application and relevant conditions are accordingly attached.
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
I have looked at the above application and can confirm that the site area and number of dwellings proposed
trigger the thresholds of the Council s affordable housing policy as per policy DC4.

At present a 40% provision is required on sites capable of accommodating 5 or more dwellings and/or
0.17ha. This is then further split into 65% being made available for rent and 35% for shared ownership,
shared equity or any other intermediate product that meets the intermediate definition within NPPF, meets an
identified need in the District and is agreed by the Council. However, NPPG states that affordable housing
should not be sought on developments of fewer than 11 units with a combined floorspace of less than
1000sqm. In this instance 11 units would be required, 7 for rent and 4 for intermediate housing.

The affordable housing mix i.e., unit types, layout etc. will need to be addressed in the reserved matters.
Whilst at this stage I appreciate that it is difficult to agree the type of affordable housing unit, ie 2bed, 3 bed
etc, I would recommend that, in order to best meet an identified housing need, mainly smaller unit i.e. 1bed 2
person and 2bed 4 person unit is provided.
FACILITIES MANAGEMENT
Applicants should make their own title enquiries and contact Facilities Management if there are any
Restrictive Covenants in favour of Council, which they need to request to alter in view of this planned
development. If the applicants are to request the Council to consider whether or not they wish to be the
nominated body for the Public Open Space they should make contact with Facilities Management to discuss.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The proposal has been accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA).
If you are minded to approve this application, I recommend that you condition:

- Vegetation clearance needs to be subject to a timing constraint.
- If any trees are to be directly impacted upon by the proposed development a Preliminary Roost Assessment
of these trees will be necessary.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 47



 

 

 

- An Ecological Management Plan (EMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the LPA prior to
commencement of development.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
I recommend applying the following conditions and informative:

Conditions
Site Investigation/Remediation
Unexpected Contamination
Informative
Informative (Extensions)
AIR QUALITY OFFICER
The application has been considered. Based on the information submitted it would appear that no Air Quality
objectives set out in LAQM TG(16) are likely to be breached. There are no objections on grounds of Local Air
Quality Management.

HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT SERVICE No Comments Received
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER No Comments Received
NORFOLK WILDLIFE TRUST No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL PLANNING No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES OFFICER No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

The application has been advertised in the local press, a site notice was displayed at the site and letters were
sent to neighbouring occupiers. The following comments were received in response to the consultation
exercise and were outlined in the report previously presented to committee.

Objections:

- The proposal scale of the development is excessive and contrary to the planned growth of Foulden
- The limited services in the village means the proposal cannot support further social housing
- The village could not cope with the increase
- Concern about infrastructure capacity, including issues with the sewerage system
- This is an unsustainable location for housing
- Concerns about the impacts from increased traffic
- Potential impacts from loss of privacy
- Density and location of the development is inappropriate
- There is no GP, dentist, shop, continuous footpath or decent bus service
- There is an infrequent bus service, once per week 9am to Kings Lynn with a 1pm return
- The settlement boundary review and emerging Local Plan clearly identify that this is not a sustainable
location for additional housing of this scale
- The development would not result in sustainable development, contrary to the NPPF
- The development would not reinforce local distinctiveness and would result in the loss of important green
space
- Concern about future issues around highway and pedestrian safety

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 48



 

- What will happen to the area of green space that would remain?
- Concern about potential issues with access to the site
- The proposal is outside the settlement boundary for the village
- Foulden is suitable for only nominal residential growth
- The roads are narrow and unsuitable for more housing
- The village does not have enough local business to entertain employment to new residents

Support

- Good to see growth within the village, good mix and size of house much needed support for local
businesses and help for local amenity

Since the previous committee resolution, additional comments have been received in relation to the
application which can be summarised as follows:

- Although I was in favour of Foulden Parish Council agreeing in principle to allow the applicant to provide a
pathway across the adjacent recreation ground, should the application be approved, my original objection to
this application remains, on the grounds that is does not satisfy the requirements of NPPF as sustainable
development. Furthermore, NPPF 24/07/2018 paragraph 109 puts extra emphasis on the impact of the
development on highways safety, giving additional weight to the comments of NCC The emerging local plan
removes the settlement boundary in Foulden. As such, new development shall be considered against policy
HOU 05. This application fails to satisfy any of the 5 criteria set out in HOU 05 as required to allow planning
permission
to be granted.

- I have been asked by the Parish Council, in my capacity as Parish Clerk, to advise that
an Extraordinary Meeting of Foulden Parish Council was held on Friday 23rd November
to discuss the proposed footpath. The Parish Council voted in favour 4/1 to agree in principle, to allow the
provision of a pathway across the Recreation Ground, subject to confirmation of the final detail in relation to
route, construction and any mitigating provisions to the satisfaction of the
trustees and Charity Commission and following consultation with the residents of the
village of Foulden.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

AGENT SUPPORTING STATEMENT

It is noted that the Highways officer argues that there is 'no safe walking route to the catch primary
school'(sic). In fact drawing 3254.03B indicates the bus stops and it is clear from this drawing that, apart from
needing to cross School Road, there are connecting footpaths to the collection point to the north of the site.
Notwithstanding this, you have been advised, (Richard Buxton's letter of  12th September 2018 ref CMA1-
001/LF/PT) that "the bus travels along School Road and collects children either when flagged down or at a
stop at the junction of School Road". Given the flexible arrangement described, it would seem that there are
a number of safe walking routes to the school bus.

In terms of concerns regarding the inadequate nature of the highway network serving the site, this was fully
considered in the July Officer report. In respect of NPPF2 the same principal applies in Paragraph 109 (set
out above).  The test remains the same between paragraph 32 of the earlier NPPF and the July 18 version,
and clearly your earlier consideration did not hold the highway network impacts to be severe. It is also

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 49



relevant to note that children from the village enjoy bus transport along the highway network, such that there
is no increase in traffic to the catchment schools generated by the development.

The position is that the applicant is prepared to provide a footpath as shown on drawing 3254.05 rev E for the
benefit of the village, including formalising and connecting with an existing similar footpath that connects
Uptons Way with the village playing field. However, as explained at committee, this offer is conditional upon
acceptance of the proposal by the Parish Council, landowners of the village playing field. At their EGM on
23rd November the Parish Council agreed in principle to accept this offer. They have further asked for
fencing and lighting to the footpath, which the applicant is happy to provide, although detailed design for
reasonable surfacing and type of lighting/fencing is to be agreed between the parties. It would therefore
seem reasonable to make members aware that the applicant is happy to provide the footpath connections as
outlined on drawing 3254.05 rev E, and that the Parish Council has resolved to accept.

It is suggested and agreed that this provision be included as an obligation within the s106 agreement for the
developer to provide, subject to the consent of the Parish Council. Should the Parish Council not consent
then there would be no obligation on the applicant to make the provision. The footpath provision is not
therefore an integral part of the planning application, although it is a benefit to the village should they
continue to agree to accept the offer.

In respect of maintenance of the footpath, fencing and lighting, that will become the responsibility of the
Parish Council as it remains on their land.

ASSESSMENT

The application is, for the reasons set out above, being brought back before Planning Committee for re-
consideration, where the Council considers that - after careful assessment of the additional documents
received, consultation responses, the development plan and updated national guidance set out in the revised
NPPF and after a further full consultation of the application - the adverse impacts of the development would
not outweigh the benefits of the proposal.

This report should be read in conjunction with the July Report. The information, assessments and
recommendations in the July Report remain up to date, save as where updated by this report.

The updated guidance in NPPF 2 does not substantially alter the assessment laid out in the original Officer
report.  The NPPF 2 represents a material consideration and has been assessed as such.  The over-arching
objectives of NPPF 2 is to promote sustainable development.  The scheme has been considered in this
context and in light of the relevant development plan policies as set out in the original Officer report and the
circumstances have not fundamentally changed since its revision.

The advice set out in Paragraphs 78 and 79 have been considered in context with the concerns raised by the
Highway Authority in relation to impacts on the wider highway network, off site facilities for pedestrians and
people with disabilities.  It is acknowledged that the development cannot fully cater for these needs.  This
would not be unlike many other development proposals in rural settlements.  The scheme's failings in this
regard need to be assessed on context of Paragraph 11 d) of the revised NPPF.

Similarly, the development site is not located within a Service Centre village but a rural settlement.  The main
report attached at Appendix 1 also acknowledged this fact, but it was assessed as part of the 'titled balance'
set out in Paragraph 11 of NPPF 2 and in context of the benefits of maintaining and enhancing the vitality of
rural communities and seeking to prevent additional pressure for isolated dwellings in the countryside.  The
planning judgement has not changed in this respect and these factors remain relevant and appropriate to

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 50



consider in the planning balancing exercise.

The applicant has offered an additional footpath connection linking the site with the recreation ground,
Vicarage Road and potentially the village hall.  The land upon which the footpath would be constructed is
within the control of the Parish Council. The Parish Council at the time of writing this report have provided
correspondence to the LPA (via draft minutes of a Parish Council meeting on 23rd November 2018) that they
have resolved that such a footpath would be considered favourably by the Parish Council as landowner.  In
order to secure the footpath an additional obligation would be included within the S106 agreement, however
it should be noted that such an obligation would be drafted to ensure that the scheme could still be delivered
if the position of the Parish Council as landowner changes in respect of the footpath.

Whilst the creation of the additional footpath linking the site with Vicarage Road would be desirable, there
has been no fundamental change in Officers assessment of the impacts of the development on the wider
highway network since the scheme was considered on the 2nd July.  Furthermore, it is not considered that
the advice in NPPF 2 would materially alter the Officer recommendation in the absence of the proposed off-
site footpath - thus why it is recommended that the S106 obligation is drafted so as to ensure that the
implementation of the development is not contingent on the delivery of the footpath.

The pre-action letter from Messrs Buxton's has raised an issue regarding disabled access to the site and has
expressed that, in their opinion, the Committee did not have due regard to the apparent 'lack of' provision for
wheelchair users or other users with mobility issues, this is especially in light of the revised NPPF. As part of
this up-dated report the Committee is advised that there are no significant differences between the revised
NPPF and the 2012 NPPF with regard to disability access provisions. The first officer's report, which was
presented to committee, addressed the access points to the site at paragraph 4.4 and the Committee are
asked to view this paragraph in the appended report. The only addition in the revised NPPF to the above-
mentioned mobility consideration is the addition of a reference to "reduced mobility". The Committee is asked
to take this into account but also should note that it is considered that the report adequately addressed the
mobility and access to the site in the original report and that the minor revision in the NPPF 2018 does not
materially affect the recommendation previously made and the planning balance for consideration before the
Committee now.

Issues have been raised regarding the extent of five-year housing land supply deficit and the materiality of
that shortfall in the assessment of this application. Approximately one month after the initial Committee
decision a statement from the Leader of the Council confirmed that the Council could potentially attain a 4.77
year housing supply. This revised approximate figure was not available at the first Committee hearing
therefore it now forms part of this up-dated report, however it is felt that even with this now limited shortfall, it
does not affect the initial weight given to it in the planning balance.  It is acknowledged that the shortfall is not
significant, potentially at 4.77 years but this has not been tested or scrutinised through the necessary
channels  and in actual fact  the number of dwellings proposed under this scheme would not contribute
sufficiently to be able to establish a five-year housing land supply.  Conversely, this proposal would, in
practical terms, assist in a modest way to moving towards achieving an adequate land supply and it is on this
basis that the benefits of bringing forward this site for housing have been assessed. It is concluded that the
untested and approximate 4.77 supply is still below any requirements and with the Local Plan which is
considered to be out of date, the 'tilted balance', as expressed in the revised NPPF, is introduced when
making this planning judgment.

The Pre-Action letter from Messrs Buxton's also comments on the emerging Local Plan and that in the Local
Plan it is proposed that the settlement boundary for Foulden shall be removed and that the effect would be
the ruralisation of Foulden and its status as a 'limited settlement'. However, as the adoption of the Local Plan
is not imminent and may be subject to change, it is advised that very little weight should be given to this point

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 51



 

 

as it would be premature to do so. This consideration, again, does not change the conclusion reached in the
original officer's report and the weight to be given in the planning balance.

CONCLUSION

Save for where reported above, the assessment and conclusions in the 2nd July 2018 report remain up to
date.

The development proposal has been assessed to ascertain whether the adverse impacts of the development
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the development, when assessed against the NPPF
and development policies as a whole, and it is concluded that the development remains, on balance,
acceptable in this instance.

RECOMMENDATION

RECOMMENDATION

Therefore, pursuant to section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, it remains the
Council's view that planning permission should be granted and there are, on balance, no material
considerations that justify refusal.

GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to the conditions and S106 obligations outlined.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the expiration of
TWO YEARS beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance, layout, scale, access and landscaping of the development.
Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 Precise details of foul water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
foul water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 52



imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

4 Precise details of surface water disposal
Prior to the commencement of any works above slab level precise details of the means of
surface water disposal shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.  Only such agreed system or works shall be used in connection with this approval.
Reason for condition:-
The details are required to be submitted prior to the commencement of development to
minimise the possibilities of flooding from the outset of the development. This condition is
imposed in accordance with Policies DC 1 and DC 13 of the Adopted Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. This condition is
imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Unless otherwise agreed in writing, the following details shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of the development
hereby approved:
A.  Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site.  The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).
B.  Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 53



by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment.  The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
INFORMATIVE:-
Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process.  During the course of the risk
assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear that no further work
is necessary to address land contamination risks.  Where this is the case the condition may
be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being completed.  In all cases
written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming that the requirements of
the condition have been met.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Full details of external lighting
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted details of the external lighting to
the site shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, and only lighting so
agreed shall be installed on the site.  Such lighting shall be kept to a minimum for the
purposes of security and site safety, and shall prevent upward and outward light radiation.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of amenity.
This condition will require to be discharged

8 Construction Method Statement
No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning
authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
The Statement shall provide for:
i.             the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors
ii.            loading and unloading of plant and materials
iii.           storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development
iv.           the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays
and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 54



v.            wheel washing facilities
vi.           measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction
vii.          detailed proposals for the removal of asbestos from existing buildings to be
demolished
viii.        a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction
works
Reason for condition:
The details are required prior to the commencement of the development in the interests of
the amenity of the area and to ensure a safe development from the outset of the
development.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Landscaping scheme to be submitted - hard and
soft
No development shall take place on site until full details of both hard and soft landscape
works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and
these works shall be carried out as approved.  These details shall include:
-hard surfacing materials;
-means of enclosure;
-proposed finished levels or contours;
-minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units,
signs, lighting etc,)
Soft landscaping shall include:
-Planting plans;
-Written specifications ( including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and
grass establishment);
-Schedules of planting, noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where
appropriate;
-Implementation programme
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Boundary treatment/screening to be agreed
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a plan indicating the positions,
design, materials and type of boundary treatment/screening to be erected shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The boundary
treatment/screening shall be completed  or DATA ERROR!!!
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Non-standard condition
An ecological management plan (EMP) shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by the
LPA prior to commencement of development. The content of the EMP shall include the
following:
a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed,
b) Ecological constraints on site that might influence management
c) Aims and objectives of management
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives including mitigation

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 55



detailed in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal submitted with the application (Section 8
Greenlight PEA July 2017)
e) Prescriptions for management actions
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being rolled
forward over a five-year period)
g) Details of the body or organisation responsible for implementation of the plan
h) On-going monitoring and remedial measures
The EMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanisms by which the long-
term
implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer. The plan shall also set out
(where
the results of monitoring show that conservation aims and objectives of the EMP are not
being
met) how remedial action will be identified, agreed and implemented so the development still
delivers the fully function biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme.

Reason for Condition:-
To ensure that appropriate regard is had to ecological characteristics at the site.

12 Non-standard condition
No removal, in full or in part, of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st
March and 31st August inclusive, unless a competent ecologist has undertaken a careful,
detailed check of vegetation for active birds' nests immediately before the vegetation is
cleared and provided written confirmation that no birds will be harmed and/or that there are
appropriate measures in place to protect nesting bird interest on site. Any such written
confirmation should be submitted to the local planning authority.

Reason for Condition:-
To ensure that appropriate regard is had to ecological characteristics at the site.

13 Non-standard condition
An arboricultural impact assessment and tree protection plan shall be provided based on
final layout ad submitted to the Council for agreement prior to the commencement of
development. The development shall proceed in accordance with the agreed details.

Reason for Condition:-
To ensure existing  landscaping features of the site are retained in the interests of
maintaining the rural character of the area.

14 Non-standard condition
The development hereby permitted shall not exceed 21 dwellings.

Reason for Condition:-
To ensure a satisfactory layout in line with adopted policy.

15 Visibility splays
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted details of a visibility splay shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The agreed slays
shall be provided prior to the first occupation of the development and thereafter the splays
shall be kept free of any obstruction in excess of a height of 0.6. metres above the level of
the adjoining carriageway.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 56



 

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

16 Non-standard highways condition
Prior to commencement of any works above slab level details of the standards to which the
estate roads and footways serving the development are to be constructed shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. No house / building shall be
occupied until the roads and footways have been constructed in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0713/VAR CASE OFFICER Mark Springthorpe

LOCATION: GREAT ELLINGHAM APPNTYPE: Variation of Cond's
Development Site at 601936 296991 POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Attleborough Road, Great Ellingham ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Silkwin Homes
c/o M B W Contractors Cades Farm

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: N J Myhill Architecture
13  Damgate Street Wymondham

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Variation of Condition 3 (Approved Plans) pursuant to grant of consent 3PL/2015/0487/O for
the erection of 9no homes (3 affordable houses, 5 open market detached and 1 open market
semi detached house). Variation to size of dwellings

REASON FOR COMMITEE CONSIDERAT

The application is referred to Planning Committee as a variation to a previous committee approval, itself a
departure from Development Plan Policy.

KEY ISSUES

KEY ISSUES
Character & Appearance (Amendments)
Amenity (Amendments)
Access (Amendments)

Other Matters:
Trees (Amendments)
Boundary Treatments (Amendments)
Affordable Housing (Amendments)

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The original application (3PL/2015/0487/O) sought outline approval for the erection of nine dwellings - with
access, scale and layout forming part of the application.  Matters of appearance and landscaping are
reserved.

The applicant had submitted a layout with accompanying floor plans describing 4no semi-detached dwellings
accessed from Church Street and 5no detached dwellings accessed from Attleborough Road. Three of the
dwellings off Church Street would be affordable units.  All of the dwellings would be two storey and comprise
3no 2-bed, 4-person units, 4no 4-bed, 8-person units and 1no 3-bed, 6-person unit.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 74

Agenda Item 9d



 

 

 

 

 

 

This variation principally involves the enlargement of the 2-bed and 3-bed dwellings by 8sqm and 17sqm
respectively, together with changes to the internal layout of all units. The ratio of bedroom:occupants will
remain unchanged. Variations to the positioning of the dwellings within their curtilages, the siting of garage
blocks and the course of the access-way from Attleborough Road are also incorporated.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site lies between Church Street to the west and Attleborough Road to the east, at the
southern edge of the village of Great Ellingham.  The site is outside the settlement boundary, though
adjacent to it.  The site is at present laid to grass, with a tree line along the southern boundary.  To the south
is open agricultural land and to the north - moving east to west - a combination of residential dwellings, The
Crown public house and Great Ellingham Methodist church.  A public footpath between Attleborough Road
and Church Street forms part of the boundary between the eastern part of the site and the residential
dwellings to the north side.

EIA REQUIRED

No.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

3PL/2015/0487/O Permission 11-09-17
Erect 9 homes (3 affordable houses, 5 open market detached and 1 semi detached open market house).

3PL/2015/0487/0- Outline application for 9  dwellings- Approved ( subject to section 106 agreement)

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.04 Affordable Housing Principles
DC.05 Affordable Housing on Exception Sites
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 75



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NPPF With particular regard to paras 7,  8, 47, 49 & 55
NPPG

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Previous approved application Ref :3PL/2015/0487/O subject to s section 106 agreement regarding
affordable housing

CONSULTATIONS

TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
Objection - AIA and tree protection plan subsequently amended as advised
HOUSING ENABLING OFFICER
Objection - The proposed affordable units would not achieve the GIA standard
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
No comment
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objection
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection - providing the development proceeds in line
with the application details and subject to unexpected contamination condition
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection following amendments
CRIME REDUCTION & ARCHITECTURAL LIAISON OFFICER
Objection - Boundary fencing should be increased to 1.8m close boarded

RAMBLERS ASSOCIATION:  NORFOLK AREA No Comments Received
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY No Comments Received
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD No Comments Received
GREAT ELLINGHAM P C No Comments Received
ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

No representations received

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0Site History
1.1 This application constitutes a proposed variation to the outline scheme approved under grant of consent
3PL/2015/0487/O.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 76



1.2 As such, the principle of the development has been established and no amendment to the scheme or
policy context has transpired such as might suggest otherwise.

1.3 To that end, the siting of the proposal adjacent to the settlement boundary; the level of service provision
and accessibility to Great Ellingham - as a designated 'Service Centre Village' with regard to Policy SS1 -
and the potential for the development to further support those facilities; and the contribution to the supply of
housing continues to render the proposal a broadly sustainable form of development.

1.4 The previous conclusions in respect of ecology and drainage also remain unaffected by the proposed
amendments and no objection has been raised by the NE Team, Environment Agency or Anglia Water.
Previously agreed conditions have been transposed.

2.0Character & Appearance (Amendments)
2.1 With regard to character and appearance, the increase in scale is fairly negligible and will have little
material effect on the fundamental layout. Units 5, 6, 7 & 8 will remain the same size - though the footprint of
Unit 5 will be inverted. Although the details of the design remains a reserved matter, the amended proposal
remains consistent with that previously approved and so is considered acceptable.

2.2 The proposed amendments also include changes to the position and scale of garages in the eastern part
of the site. Units 6 & 7 would now all benefit from double garages, though in the same location - proud of the
front elevation. Unit 8 would similarly benefit from a double garage, now to the front on the opposite side to
that previously approved.

2.3 As a result, Units 7 & 8 would be set closer to their respective side boundaries however, a considerable
gap would still exist between flank elevations. The increase in the bulk of the garage blocks is not considered
to be detrimental to the character and appearance of the proposal. It would not be an incongruous form of
development - as established by the previous consent - and would remain subordinate to the proposed
dwellings.

2.4 As development in the area comprises a mixture of houses and bungalows of a variety of styles and
ages, arranged both in linear fashion along local roads and in small cul-de-sac estates, it is considered that
the layout and scale of the proposal would continue to relate well to character of existing development and
would thus accord with Policies DC2 and DC16 of the adopted Breckalnd Core Strategy and Development
Management Policies (2009) and Paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

3.0Amenity (Amendments)
3.1 As a result of the proposed amendments, Unit 3 will sit approximately 2m closer to the boundary with the
adjoining plantation. Unit 5 will also sit c2m closer to the northern boundary with the footpath and the flank
elevation of the property known as Elrosa beyond. However, the two properties would maintain a significant
degree of separation - still in excess of 6m - and will remain to the side and forward of the building there,
avoiding any impact on the rear private amenity area.

3.2 The changes to the proposed access will also bring the carriageway closer to the northern boundary.
This will remove some of the outline incidental planting however, opportunities remain and a detailed
landscaping scheme can be brought forward at the reserved matters stage. In any event, the access will
remain separated from the properties to the north by the footpath zone and the principle and degree of
vehicle movements to be introduced has already been established by the previous approval.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 77



3.3 As a result, the proposed amendments are not considered acceptable in respect of their likely impact on
the amenities of adjoining residents.

3.4 In respect of the proposed changes to the footprint of the buildings, these will improve the standard of
accommodation for the future occupants, whilst retaining an adequate degree of private amenity space. It will
similarly not detrimentally affect the relationship between the proposed new dwellings. On that basis, the
proposed amendments are considered acceptable in that respect and consistent with the expectations of
Policy DC1.

4.0 Access (Amendments)
4.1 The proposal incorporates a minor change to the course of the proposed access way.  However, the
junction and the means of access into the village will remain effectively as per the previous approval - having
been designed in accordance with relevant technical standards and in line with the recommendations of the
Highway Authority - and subject to conditions as transposed.

4.2 Following revisions to confirm the visibility hatching, off-site highway works and notes previously
approved - together with access to the public footpath - the Highway Authority have removed their objection
to the proposal and it is considered that the scheme as revised remains acceptable with regard to the
expectations of Policy CP13.

Other Matters:
5.0 Trees (Amendments)
5.1 The Tree Officer noted that the amendments resulted in corresponding implications for the previously
approved Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Protection Plan. These have subsequently been
amended and form part of this decision - and their implementation is conditioned accordingly.

6.0 Boundary Treatments (Amendments)
6.1 The Norfolk Constabulary Crime Prevention Officer has raised concern that the proposed 1.1m post and
rail fencing would not be adequate to secure the rear boundaries of the proposed properties and
recommends that a 1.8m closed board fence be installed.

6.2 Landscaping remains a reserved matter. However - with regard to Policy DC2 and for the avoidance of
doubt - a condition explicitly with regard to the final details of proposed boundary fencing has been applied.

7.0 Affordable Housing (Amendments)
7.1 The Housing Enabling Officer has objected to the proposal as the intended affordable units fail to meet
the Affordable Housing Space Standard adopted by Breckland. The units - at 70sqm - fall short of the
standard by 6sqm.

7.2 However, the proposed revisions as part of this application would increase the GIA of those units by
8sqm above that already approved under grant of consent 3PL/2015/0487/O and would consequently
improve the standard of accommodation and amenity afforded to future residents. The previous application
was subject to a section 106 agreement regarding affordable housing.

7.3 On that basis, the proposed variations are considered acceptable with regard to the principles set out
under Policy DC4.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 78



 

 

8.0 Conclusion

8.1 In the context of the extant grant of outline consent, the proposed minor increase to the GIA of some of
the units, as well as to their internal layout, minor alterations to the siting of the proposed dwellings, garage
blocks and means of access from Attleborough Road are considered to be consistent with the basis of that
approval and would not give rise to any unacceptable detriment to character and appearance, amenity or
highway safety.

8.2 This application is therefore recommended for APPROVAL.

CONDITIONS

1 Outline Time Limit (2 years)
Application for Approval of Reserved Matters must be made not later than the 11th
September 2019 beginning with the date of this permission, and the development must be
begun within ONE YEAR of the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE RESERVED MATTERS or, in
the case of approval at different dates, the FINAL APPROVAL OF THE LAST SUCH
MATTER to be approved.

Reason for condition:-
As required by section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 and in order to
encourage the early delivery of the development to meet housing needs.

2 Standard Outline Condition
No development whatsoever shall take place until the plans and descriptions giving details
of the reserved matters referred to above shall have been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority and these plans and descriptions shall provide details of the
appearance and landscaping of the development.

Reason for condition:-
The details are not included in the current submission.

3 In accordance with submitted
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out below:
Drawing numbers: Drawing 201 Rev K & Drawing 204 Rev C

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

4 Boundary treatment/screening to be agreed
Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted a plan indicating the positions,
design, materials and type of boundary treatment/screening to be erected shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The boundary
treatment/screening shall be completed before the buildings are first occupied  Development
shall be carried out in its entirety in accordance with the approved details.

Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 79



In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with policy
DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Non-standard condition
All works on site shall be undertaken with full regard to the mitigation measures specified in
Section 6 of the Ecological Appraisal Report approved under grant of consent
3PL/2015/0487/O

Reason for the condition:-
In the interests of the ecological interests of the site in accordance wit Policy CP 10 of the
Core Strategy and Development Control Policies.

6 New access - construction over verge
Prior to the first occupation  of the development hereby permitted the vehicular access shall
be provided and thereafter retained at the position shown on the approved plan in
accordance with highway specification.  Arrangement shall be made for surface water
drainage to be intercepted and disposed of separately so that it does not discharge from or
onto the highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure satisfactory access into the site and avoid carriage of extraneous material of
surface water from or onto the highway.

7 Provision of visibility splay on approved plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted a visibility splay shall be
provided in full accordance with the details indicated on the approved plan.  The splay shall
thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres above
the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.

Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety.

8 Provision of parking and servicing - when shown
on plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the proposed accesses /
parking and turning areas shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with the approved plan and retained thereafter available for that specific use.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking / manoeuvring area, in the interests of
highway safety.

9 Highway improvements-offsite A
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings no works shall commence
on site until a detailed scheme for the off-site highway improvement works as indicated on
the approved plans have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 80



To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Highway improvements off-site B
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted the off-site highway
improvement works referred to in condition 9 above shall be completed to the written
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Highway Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway network is adequate to cater for the development proposed.

11 Fencing protection for existing trees
Operations on site shall take place in complete accordance with the approved Arboricultural
Impact Assessment (AIA), Tree Protection Plan (TPP) and Arboricultural Method Statement
(AMS) provided by A.T Coombes dated 29th November 2018. This must include site
monitoring and supervision as detailed in section 10 of the report, with written confirmation
from the arboriculturalist.

No other operations shall commence on site in connection with the development until the
tree protection works and any pre-emptive tree works required by the approved AIA or AMS
have been carried out and all tree protection barriers are in place as indicated on the TPP.
Works shall not commence until written confirmation has been obtained from the appointed
arboriculturalist to confirm that fencing is in place as specified.

The protective fencing shall be retained in a good and effective condition for the duration of
the construction of the development and shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or
otherwise, until all site works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and
surplus materials removed from site, unless the prior written approval of the local planning
authority has been sought and obtained.

Reason for condition:-
The works are required to be undertaken prior to the commencement of the development in
order to safeguard the protection of trees from the outset of the development, in accordance
with Policy DC 12 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies
Development Plan Document 2009
This condition will require to be discharged

12 Non-standard surface water condition
No drainage works shall commence until a surface water management strategy has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No hard-standing
areas to be constructed until theworks have been carried out in accordance with the surface
water strategy
so approved unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-To prevent environmental and amenity problems arising from flooding
13 Contaminated Land - Unexpected

Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 81



 

development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

14 Variation of approved plans
NOTES:
Any material variation from the approved plans following commencement of the
development will constitute unauthorised development and may be liable to enforcement
action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed material variation from the
approved plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most
proposals for variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new planning
application.

18 Note Legal agreement re: afford hsg, p open
space & fin cont
The permission is subject to a legal agreement dated 7th September 2017 requiring the
provision of affordable housing and the permission should be read in conjunction with this
agreement.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 82



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/1061/F CASE OFFICER Lisa ODonovan

LOCATION: ICKBURGH APPNTYPE: Full
Land adjacent to Manor Farm,50
Ashburton Road

POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry

Ickburgh ALLOCATION: N
CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs  Long
C/o Agent

LB GRADE: Adjacent Grade 2

AGENT: Locus Planning Ltd
11 Charing Cross Norwich

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Full planning permission for the erection of three dwellings and creation of a new vehicular
access.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is brought to Committee as the recommendation is contrary to Policy.

KEY ISSUES

Principle
Impact on character and appearance of the area
Amenity impact
Highway safety
Ecological implications
Heritage impact

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks full permission for the erection fo three two storey dwellings on an area of agricultural
land to the north-east of Manor Farm (a Grade II listed building).

The dwellings are proposed to be sited in an 'L' shape formation with plots 1 and 2 joined with the retun of
plot 2 being forward facing, a small separation is proposed between plot 2 and 3.

The design of the dwellings replicate a traditional barn/outbuilding aesthetic.  A new access is also proposed
directly off Ashburton Road.

SITE AND LOCATION

The site currently forms part of a larger agricultural parcel of land which is within the applicant's ownership.
The site is bounded to the roadside by an established hedge  and by planting and hedging to the south-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 83

Agenda Item 9e



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

western boundary adjoining Manor Farm House.  St Peter's Church (a Grade II* listed building) lies to the
north-east of the site.

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.17 Historic Environment
DC.19 Parking Provision
LBC Planning(Listed Building & Conservation Areas) Act 1990
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

ICKBURGH PARISH MEETING
Ickburgh Parish Meeting is unanimously opposed to this planning application for the following reasons. 1. On
Green agricultural land 2. Outside village settlement Boundary 3. We have registered our concerns with you
over several years concerning the increasing traffic flow. Now, together with the number of applications
approved, this could increase by 40/50% . Part of this is the movement of larger & larger tractors & farm

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 84



machinery. WHAT SEEMS NEVER TO BE CONSIDERED IS THAT ASHBURTON ROAD IS A NO
THROUGH ROAD. SO WHATEVER FIGURES MAY HAVE BEEN GIVEN THESE CAN BE DOUBLED TO
ALLOW FOR RETURN TRAFFIC. 4.The proposed exit is in the middle of very dangerous bends. 5.A second
entrance has already been created immediately next to the eastern boundary wall of Manor Farm. (No
permission given). 6. The site is between two Grade 2 listed buildings, both dating back to the Middle Ages -
St. Peters Church & Manor Farm. which are of significant historical interest. 7. The proposed site is regularly
visited and searched by metal detector enthusiasts who frequently find items of historical interest.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
No objection subject to conditions.
HISTORIC BUILDINGS CONSULTANT
No objection. It is considered that the proposed development will not be harmful to the setting of the
designated heritage assets.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The site is approximately 300m north of the River Wissey (CWS) and on the edge of Breckland Forest (SSSI
& SPA). The site also falls within the 1.5km Breckland Consultation Zone for Stone Curlew and within 250m
of Breckland SPA for nightjar and woodlark. The report states that the site is in close proximity to these
designated sites but no assessment of the impacts of the development on these sites has been carried out.
Given the proximity to the Natura 2000 sites, a screening for a Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) will be
necessary. The site is located within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of Breckland Forest SSSI. The proposed
development will result in a total net gain in residential units, and therefore Natural England needs to be
consulted on this site.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objection subject to conditions.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection providing highways visibility requirements can be achieved whilst retaining the hedgerow as
shown.
ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OFFICERS
I recommend approval providing the development proceeds in line with the application details and subject to
the following comments I m concerned about the position of the air source heat pump proposed for Plot 3 in
that it is located close to the Master Bedroom Suite of Plot 2. I appreciate that the air source heat pump
maybe permitted development under the Microgeneration Certification Scheme, however; the proposed
location in a relatively narrow gap between the two plots may mean future residents of Plot 2 could be
disturbed by noise from the pump depending on the noise characteristics of the particular pump to be
installed (there are no details of the airsource heat pump). The location of the properties is fairly rural and the
background noise levels at night may be much lower than the standard level used in the above scheme. In
view of this I recommend the following condition to apply to Plot 3 only Prior to commencement of the
development, full written details for the Air Source Heat Pump should be submitted to the planning authority
for approval. Details should include make and model, noise levels including 1/3 octave frequency analysis for
all modes of operation, exact location and means of fixing./mounting. Reason for condition; In the interest of
the amenity of future nearby residents
HISTORIC ENGLAND
We do not wish to offer any comments. We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist
conservation and archaeological advisers, as relevant.
NATURAL ENGLAND
SUMMARY OF NATURAL ENGLAND' S ADVICE

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 85



 

 

 

 

NO OBJECTION

Based on the plans submitted, Natural England considers that the proposed development will not
have significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected sites or landscapes.

REPRESENTATIONS

Site notice erected: 25-09-2018
Consultations issued: 19-09-2018

38 letters of objection were received raising the following main points of objection:

- Loss of prime farmland
- The land is outside the settlement boundary
- Too many new homes for the village
- Precedent for other proposals coming forward
- Access is dangerous with poor visibility
- Increase in traffic - roads insufficient to cope.
- Infrastructure at breaking point
- Already 14 new properties in street this will take  number to 17 significant impact on community
- precedent  for future applications
- site between two listed buildings
- Houses out of keeping with immediate area

These issues are addressed within the main report.  In terms of precedent, this can not be a material
consideration as each application is determined against its own merits.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0  The site is located outside but adjacent to the Ickburgh Settlement Boundary and therefore the
application is contrary to Policies SS1, DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control
Policies Development Plan Document 2009. The principle of the proposal is therefore not accepted.

1.1  Paragraph 10 of the NPPF states that at the heart of the Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development.   Paragraph 11 further states that proposed development that accords with an up-
to-date Local Plan should be approved without delay, and where there are no relevant development plan
policies, or the policies which are most important for determining applications are out-of-date, granting
permission unless any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits.

1.2  The Council cannot demonstrate a current 5 year housing land supply and therefore the Core Strategy
and Development Control Policies Document are not considered up-to-date and therefore the material
considerations are assessed in line with the sustainable development roles within paragraph 8 of the NPPF:

- economic, to help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of
the right types is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 86



-  social, to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and range
of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-
designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and
-  environmental, to contribute to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.3 Economic - The proposal would provide three new dwellings closely related to the existing settlement
boundary and would therefore make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal
would provide limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during
construction.

1.4 Social - The village of Ickburgh is classified in Policy SS1 as a rural settlement.  However the A1065 is a
short distance to the west of the site which links the village to Mundford, approximately 1.5 miles away.
Mundford is classified as a Service Centre village and benefits from a shop, butchers, pub, fish and chip
shop, cafe and village hall.  It is noted that a bus stop is located approximately 0.6miles from the site which
links the site to Mundford and the wider District (including Kings Lynn) however this service (No 12) runs on a
Tuesday only.  It is therefore unlikely that the occupiers of the dwellings will be encouraged to use public
transport.   As a result of these factors, the proposal is considered not to comply with the social role of
sustainable development and this weighs against the proposal.

2.0 Impact on the character and appearance of the area

2.1 The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is, therefore, integral to the environmental
dimension of sustainable design, as is its design.

2.2 Policy DC16 requires all new development to achieve the highest standard of design. As part of this, all
design proposals must preserve or enhance the existing character of an area. Consideration will also be
given to the density of buildings in a particular area and the landscape/townscape effect of any increased
density.

2.3 Policy CP11 seeks the protection and enhancement of the landscape for the sake of its intrinsic beauty
and benefit to the rural character.  Development should have particular regard to maintaining the aesthetic
and biodiversity qualities of natural and man-made features within the landscape, including consideration of
individual or groups of natural and man-made features such as trees, hedges and woodland or rivers,
streams or other topographical features.

2.3 The proposal seeks to create three dwellings which replicate traditional Norfolk outbuildings in their
aesthetic, it is considered, given their siting adjoining the listed farmhouse and its agricultural context with the
field beyond that this approach in terms of design is a positive one and helps to reduce the overall impact of
the development.  Whilst development on the site would result in the loss of an undeveloped gap in the built
form it is noted from the layout that the scheme retains the hedgerow setting along the Ashburton Road
frontage that provide a soft landscape feature within the streetscene and important characteristic of the site
itself.  Furthermore, the layout shows that three dwellings could be provided in a form which continue the
pattern of built development seen along Ashburton Road immediately to the south-west of the application
site.  Given the siting of the car park serving the church to the north-east, the land/site is not considered to be

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 87



an important streetscene gap, and, as stated, the siting of the dwellings to the south of the plot, ensures that
the views of the church beyond are unspoiled.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to have
due regard to the environmental role of sustainable development, Policy DC16 and CP11 of the adopted
Local Plan.

2.4 There have been many comments raised by local residents about the loss of "prime farm land", however
it should be noted that the land is actually classified as Grade 4, which is defined as 'Poor'.

3.0 Amenity impact

3.1 Policy DC1 seeks to protect residential amenity and that all new development must have regard to
amenity considerations and states that development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable
effects on the amenity of neighbouring residents and future occupants.

3.2 The application provides three dwellings within the site orientated and positioned in such a way that the
amenity of the future occupiers of each plot will be protected in respect of overlooking, loss of light and over-
dominance.  It is also considered that a sufficient distance and generous boundary screening exists between
the proposed dwellings and the adjoining dwellings to the west and north to ensure that the existing
occupiers are also not adversely affected.  The proposal also provides each of the plots with a good amount
of private amenity space.  In light of these factors, the proposal is considered to accord with Policy DC1.

4.0 Highway safety

4.1 Policy CP4 of the Core strategy seeks to ensure that all access and safety concerns are resolved in new
developments.  Policy DC19 requires sufficient Parking for all new development.

4.2 The proposal provides each dwelling with two parking spaces and provides adequate turning and
manoeuvring space within the site.  Following advice of Norfolk County Council Highways the plan was
amended to widen the carriageway along the site frontage which is considered a benefit fro all existing and
proposed users of Ashburton Road.  As such, no objection was raised in this regard subject to conditions
requiring the access to be constructed as approved; visibility splays being provided as indicated; parking
being provided as shown and the above mentioned off site highway improvement work being undertaken.

5.0 Ecological implications

5.1 Policy CP10 seeks the enhancement of biodiversity and geodiversity in the district.  Proposals need to
ensure that the ecological network and protected species are not harmed or detrimentally impacted and
mitigation measures are put in place where appropriate.

5.2 It is noted that the site is approximately 300m north of the River Wissey (CWS) and on the edge of
Breckland Forest (SSSI & SPA). The site also falls within the 1.5km Breckland Consultation Zone for Stone
Curlew and within 250m of Breckland SPA for nightjar and woodlark. The report states that the site is in close
proximity to these designated sites but no assessment of the impacts of the development on these sites has
been carried out.  Given the proximity to the Natura 2000 sites, a screening for a Habitat Regulations
Assessment (HRA) will be necessary. The site is located within the Impact Risk Zone (IRZ) of Breckland
Forest SSSI. The proposed development will result in ' a total net gain in residential units' and therefore
Natural Englan  (NE) needs to be consulted on this site.

5.3 NE subsequently assessed the proposal's impact on these European Sites and Site's of Special Scientific
Interest and concluded that on the basis of the plans submitted, that the proposed development will not have

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 88



significant adverse impacts on statutorily protected sites or landscapes.

5.4 On the advice of NE letter dated 31 October 2018, no likely significant effect on the internationally
designated sites (below) is predicted as a result of this application. Therefore no Appropriate Assessment is
necessary in this case:

-BrecklandSpecial Area of Conservation
-Breckland Special Protection Area
-Grime's Graves Site of Special Scientific Interest
-Breckland Farmland Site of Special Scientific Interest
-Breckland Forest Site of Special Scientific Interest
-Stanford Training Area Site of Special Scientific Interest

6.0 Heritage Impact

6.1 The application was accompanied by a Heritage Impact Assessment which was fully considered.

6.2 Any decisions relating to listed buildings and their settings must address the statutory considerations of
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in particular sections 66, as well as
satisfying the relevant policies within the National Planning Policy Framework and the development plan.
National policy states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation.  Core Strategy Policy
DC17 seeks to ensure that new development preserves and enhances the character, appearance and
setting of conservation areas and listed buildings.

6.3 The significance of the listed buildings adjacent to the site derives principally from their historic fabric,
architectural features and prominent location/setting (particularly in relation to St Peter's Church).

6.4 It is considered that the development is clearly separate from these historic buildings and sufficient
distance exists between them in order to ensure that their settings are not adversely affected.  In addition, the
contained nature of the development will ensure that it is seen in its own context.  Accordingly, it is
considered that the scheme would preserve the special interest/setting of the listed buildings and that the
proposal is acceptable in these terms having regard to the requirements of the section 66 of the Planning
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

6.5 The Historic Buildings Officer raised no objection to the scheme.

7.0  Other issues

7.1 The Environmental Health Team raised concern regarding the proposed air source heat pump to plot 3
considering its proximity to Plot 2, as a result a condition in relation to the noise levels of this pump only is
required.

8.0  Planning Balance

8.1  The application does not accord with the adopted development plan as the site falls outside of any
settlement boundary. However, the Council does not currently have a 5 year land supply as required by the
NPPF and this development would provide a small contribution towards Breckland's Housing supply. On this
basis, the other key principle considerations for this proposal must be assessed and are whether the site is a
sustainable location for housing and the visual impact.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 89



 

 

8.2 The site is in close proximity to a range of other dwellings. The proposal demonstrates that it can be
developed whilst having a minimal character impact as a result of its modest scale, siting and boundary
screening. On this basis, the development of the site would not negatively impact the character and
appearance of the countryside and therefore complies with Policy CP 11.

8.3 It is accepted that the site does not meet the social aims of sustainable development.  However it is noted
that Mundford, a Service Centre Village is a short distance from the application site, albeit highly likely that
the future occupiers will make this journey by car.   This is a negative aspect of the proposal, and does not
accord with policies SS01 and CP14.

8.4 When applying the tilted balance required by paragraph 11 of the NPPF, the unsustainable location, is
considered to be outweighed by the positive contribution towards housing in the district and due to the
aforementioned reasons the development will not cause significant harm to the street scene or character and
appearance of the countryside.

8.5 In accordance with paragraph 11 of the NPPF, no harm has been identified which would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, and therefore the grant of planning permission subject to conditions is
recommended.

RECOMMENDATION

APPROVAL subject to conditions

CONDITIONS

1 Full Permission Time Limit (2 years)
The development must be begun not later than the expiration of TWO YEARS beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason for condition:-
As required by section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and to
ensure the deliverability of the scheme to contribute to the five year housing land supply.

2 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017
The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

3 External wall and roof materials to be agreed
No development beyond slab level shall take place until precise details, (including samples
where required), of the materials used in the construction of the external walls and roof(s) of
the development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.  This condition shall apply notwithstanding any indication as to
these matters that have been given in the current application.  The materials to be used in
the development shall be in accordance with the approved details.
Reason for condition:-
To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the colour, tone, texture and appearance of
the materials used to ensure the satisfactory appearance of the development, as required by
Policy DC 1 and DC 16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 90



Development Plan Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

4 New access (over
verge/ditch/watercourse/footway)
Prior to the first occupation of the development, hereby permitted, the vehicular access to
the site shall be constructed in accordance with a detailed scheme to be submitted to and
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Local Highways
Authority. The details shall additionally be in accordance with the highways specification
Trad 5 where it lies within the highway boundary and thereafter retained at the position
shown on the approved plan. The Access shall be constructed to a minimum width of 4.5m
for the first 10m into the site as measured from the nearside carriageway edge.
Arrangements shall be made for surface water drainage to be intercepted and disposal of
separately so that it does not discharge from or onto the highway.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure construction of a satisfactory access and to avoid carriage of extraneous material
or surface water from or onto the highway in the interests of highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

5 Provision of visibility splays - condition/approved
plan
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted visibility splays shall be
provided in full accordance with the details indicated on approved plan TL-3681-19-12A.
The splays shall thereafter be maintained at all times free from any obstruction exceeding
0.6metres above the level of the adjacent highway carriageway.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of highway safety in accordance with the principles of the NPPF.
This condition will require to be discharged

6 Provision of parking and servicing areas
Prior to the first occupation of the development, hereby permitted, the proposed access,
parking and turning area shall be laid out, demarcated, levelled, surfaced and drained in
accordance with approved plan TL-3681-19-12A and retained thereafter available for that
specific use.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the permanent availability of the parking/manoeuvring areas, in the interests of
satisfactory development and highway safety.
This condition will require to be discharged

7 Highway improvements - off-site
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no works above slab level
shall commence on site unless and until detailed drawings for the off-site highway
improvement works as indicated on Drawing No. TL-3581-18-12A have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.

8 Highway improvements - off-site
Notwithstanding the details indicated on the submitted drawings, no works above slab level

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 91



shall commence on site until detailed drawings for the off-site highway improvement works
as indicated on Drawing No. TL-3581-18-12A  have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that the highway improvement works are designed to an appropriate standard in
the interest of highway safety and to protect the environment of the local highway corridor.
This condition will require to be discharged

9 Contaminated Land - Site
Investigation/Remediation
Prior to the commencement of the development, hereby approved, the following details shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

A. Site Investigation
A site investigation and risk assessment to determine the nature and extent of any
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The investigation and risk
assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the findings
must be produced. The report of the findings must include: (i) a survey of the extent, scale
and nature of contamination; (ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: human health,
property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, woodland and
service lines and pipes, adjoining land, groundwaters and surface waters, ecological
systems, archaeological sites and ancient monuments; (iii) an appraisal of remedial options,
and proposal of the preferred option(s).
B. Remediation Scheme
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended use
by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the
natural and historical environment. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken,
proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site
management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as
contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the
intended use of the land after remediation.
C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to
the commencement of development, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written
notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a
verification report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.

The above must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's
'Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.
Reason for condition:
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised,  systems, and to ensure that the development can be
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite
receptors.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 92



Informative: Land contamination risk assessment is a step-by-step process. During the
course of the risk assessment process set out in the above condition, it may become clear
that no further work is necessary to address land contamination risks. Where this is the case
the condition may be discharged by the Council without all the steps specified being
completed. In all cases written confirmation should be obtained from the Council confirming
that the requirements of the condition have been me
This condition will require to be discharged

10 Contaminated Land - Unexpected
Contamination
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to
the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in
accordance with details to be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Where
remediation is necessary, a remediation scheme must be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  Following completion of measures identified in the
approved remediation scheme a verification report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors.
This condition is imposed in accordance with CP9 of the Breckland Adopted Core Strategy.
This condition will require to be discharged

11 Non-standard condition
IN RESPECT OF PLOT 3 ONLY

Prior to commencement of the development, full specifications of the Air Source Heat Pump
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted
details shall include the following:

- make and model,
- noise levels (including 1/3 octave frequency analysis for all modes of operation)
- exact location and means of fixing/mounting.

The Air Source Heat Pump shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved
details prior to the first occupation of Plot 3.

Reason for condition; In the interest of the amenity of future nearby residents.
12 Ecology - enhancement and mitigation

The proposed development shall be implemented in accordance with the mitigation
measures outlined in the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Eco-Check Consultancy
Ltd; August 2018) whilst the enhancement measures outlined in Section 8 of the same
report shall to be incorporated into the site's design. Details evidencing such provision shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first
occupation of the development.
Reason for condition:-

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 93



 

To ensure the development is not detrimental to Protected Species and in order to protect
the wildlife value of the site in accordance with Policy CP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy
and Development Control Polices Development Plan Document 2009 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.

13 Implementation of submitted boundary treatment
The boundary treatment shown on the plans and particulars hereby approved shall be
constructed in the manner shown and completed before the building(s) are first occupied.
Reason for condition:-
In the interests of the satisfactory appearance of the development in accordance with Policy
DC16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan
Document 2009.
This condition will require to be discharged

15 Variation of approved plans
Any variation from the approved plans following commencement of the development,
irrespective of the degree of variation, will constitute unauthorised development and may be
liable to enforcement action.
You or your agent or any person responsible for implementing this permission should inform
the Development Control Section immediately of any proposed variation from the approved
plans and ask to be advised to the best method to resolve the matter.  Most proposals for
variation to the approved plans will require the submission of a new application.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 94



 

 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: APPROVAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0154/F CASE OFFICER Carl Griffiths

LOCATION: NARBOROUGH APPNTYPE: Full
Pentney Leisure and Bowls Club POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Narborough Road ALLOCATION: N
Pentney Kings Lynn CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Terry Gray
Pentney Leisure & Bowls Club,
Narborugh Road

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Sketcher Partnership Ltd
First House Quebec Street

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Use of site for caravans to be occupied for residential purposes (for three year period) to
include the variation of conditions to the previously approved caravan site

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application was called in for committee consideration by Councillor Wilkin.

KEY ISSUES

-The principle of development
-The flood risk implications of development
-Impact on the adjacent Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI)

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

The application seeks permission for a temporary change of use of the site, relating to the occupation of
caravans for residential purposes (for three year period), including the variation of conditions attached to the
existing planning permission.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site comprises land to the rear of Pentney Bowls and Leisure Club, to the west of
Narborough and to the south-east of Pentney village. The site adjoins the border of Breckland and the district
of Kings Lynn and Norfolk.

The site currently comprises of a caravan site with associated ancillary facilities along with a car park and
temporary caravan storage area to the north east of the site. The site is accessed through the leisure club to
the north of the site, which has a vehicular access point onto Narborough Road.

To the south of the site is the River Nar which is designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 95

Agenda Item 9f



 

 

 

 

EIA REQUIRED

No

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

The following planning history relates directly to the site and is relevant to the consideration of the current
application:

-Application 3PL/2011/0725/CU granted consent for the change of use of a field to a touring caravan park;
Application 3PL/2012/0030/F varied then number of caravans allowed under the above consent;
-Application 3PL/2013/0463/F allowed for up to 50 touring caravans between March and November along
with up to 100 for special events and up to 10 caravans stored on the site over the winter months. Conditions
also placed restrictions on the occupation of the caravans to ensure that the site remained for solely tourist
use.

Whilst not located within Breckland, the following planning history relates the adjoining land within the district
of Kings Lynn & West Norfolk and is relevant to the consideration of the current application:

-16/01330/CU - Change of use of field to an extension of existing touring caravan park

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.08 Natural Resources
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.13 Accessibility
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.08 Tourism Related Development
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.13 Flood Risk
DC.16 Design
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance
SS1 Spatial Strategy

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 96



 

 

 

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Not Applicable

CONSULTATIONS

NARBOROUGH P C
We object to this application on the following grounds: 1. The site is too close to the River Nar SSSI. 2. The
site is too remote from local services 3. The site does not provide adequate off-site facilities for pedestrians
etc to link with existing service centre facilities.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Recommend refusal on the basis the proposal is remote from Service Centre Provision, conflicts with the
aims of sustainable development, the proposal does not provide off site facilities for pedestrians to link with
existing provision.
FLOOD & WATER MANAGEMENT TEAM
Object to the proposal.  The site is located within flood zones 2 & 3 of the Environment Agency Flood zone
maps.  It is also within fluvial zone 3 of the King's Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council strategic flood risk
assessment maps and in the East of Ouse, Poulver and Nar Internal Drainage Board area.Despite there
being no additional impermeable areas proposed, from our point of view the development will change the
flood risk vulnerability classification from a More vulnerable (Sites used for holiday or short-let caravans and
camping, subject to a specific warning and evacuation plan) to a Highly vulnerable (Caravans, mobile homes
and park homes intended for permanent residential use).
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections subject to conditions.
NATURAL ENGLAND
These comments follow our earlier consultation response letters.  We note the submission of the PEA report
(dated April 2018). The issue remaining to be addressed is that of foul water handling and we note the
applicants comments.
Natural England has prepared standard thematic advice to cover these scenarios and compliance should be
sought with this advice. Annex B covers septic tanks, and directs whether an Environmental Permit may be
required. So long as the proposal complies with this advice, Natural England has no remaining objection with
respect to the River Nar Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The applicants comments indicate that they
do not anticipate any discharges to ground or surface waters, and if the Council are satisfied that this is the
case then this addresses our concerns.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
The planning application is supported by a Preliminary Ecological  Appraisal report (Biome Consulting; April
2018). The report states that no additional impacts upon any important habitats are predicted to occur should
the use extension permission be granted. It is assumed that any additional foul drainage/chemical effluent
generated by the extended use of the site will be dealt with in line with environmental best practice.
A narrow belt of tall ruderal vegetation with common reed and immature trees is present beyond a fence
between the site and the river along with a relatively wide (ca. 5m) grassy walkway. This fence and belt of
vegetation must be retained going forward to continue to act as a buffer between the site and the River Nar
SSSI, along with the grassy walkway.
Water Voles are likely to be present along the River Nar and assuming that additional waste/chemical

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 97



 

 

 

effluent is dealt with appropriately, no impacts upon this population are predicted.  I recommend that some
enhancement for ecology is conditioned.
PAUL OAKLEY
Chairman River Nar Trout Fishery

The River Nar Trout Fishery is active in the management and improvements of a section of the River Nar and
includes that running alongside the Pentney Leisure & Bowls Club caravan site.  We object to any further
development or increased use of this site by caravans including their use for
residential purposes.
Since the original planning consents were granted the site has become an eyesore and several complaints
have been forwarded against the site for untidiness and non compliance of planning requirements.
This site is unkempt, possible unhealthy, and in our opinion representing a threat to the security of the Nar as
an SSSI. We expect the council not only to better monitor this site and to enforce the existing planning
conditions, but
not to consider passing any other consents, which expands the use of caravans?
This area is designated as an SSSI, any work undertaken is carefully planned with clos consultation with the
Environment Agency, Natural England, Internal Drainage Boards and others to comply with regulations.
Much of this important work is directed towards meeting the UK Governments obligation to comply
with the EU Water Framework Directive. Chalk streams are rare environments with not much more than 200
in the world and the Nar was listed in the top 10 for improvement.
The untidy views this caravan site gives walkers cannot be said to enhance the experience of a country walk.
There is also the risk to water quality with the risk of pollutants leaching or leaking into the river off the site.
The concern is that with the very lax approach to good management so far, this same uncaring attitude could
lead to, if not an obvious leak of pollutants, a defuse undetectable leak until severe contamination and
deterioration to water quality leading to dead aquatic species is observed.
ENVIRONMENT AGENCY
Development should not be permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas with a lower probability of flooding. It is for the Local Planning Authority to determine if
the Sequential Test has to be applied and whether or not there are other sites available at lower flood risk as
required by the Sequential Test in the NPPF. By consulting us on this planning application we assume that
your Authority has applied and deemed the site to have passed the NPPF Sequential Test. Although we have
raised no objection to this planning application on flood risk grounds this should not be taken to mean that we
consider the proposal to have passed the Sequential Test. Review of Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) We
withdraw our objection to this application, but strongly recommend that the mitigation measures proposed in
the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) are adhered to. The submitted FRA states that: Finished floor
levels will be raised to a minimum of 600mm above existing ground levels and Caravans will be securely
anchored to their bases.
NORFOLK RIVERS INTERNAL DRAINAGE BOARD
The site has been screened as being near to, or within, the Internal Drainage District (IDD) of a Member
Internal Drainage Board (IDB) of the Water Management Alliance.  Advice given.

ANGLIAN WATER SERVICE No Comments Received

REPRESENTATIONS

3 objections received raising the following main points which can be summarised as follows:

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 98



 

- The site is and will continue to be an eyesore
- The site gives rise to trespassing on neighbouring land which will be exacerbated by this application
- The River Nar is one of the few remaining chalk rivers in the country and is designated a Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) by Natural England. The application would adversely affect both the river and its
banks.
- If the river floods the site, any sewage, chemicals from chemical toilets, etc. from septic tanks and drains
will be washed across my land and into the river.
- Any adverse effect to the river and its wildlife would reduce the amount of fish in the river
- The development would diminish the quiet and secluded nature of its environs which would harm the
viability of neighbouring businesses
- .Additional demands will be placed on local amenities and infrastructure
- The development would have detrimental consequences for the environment.
- To allow further development would result in further deterioration of the character of the area.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0Principle of Development

1.1The existing caravan site operates under planning permission 3PL/2013/0463 which granted consent for
the use of the site as a caravan site for holiday accommodation. The permission was granted subject to a
condition which restricts the caravan to a maximum capacity of 50 touring caravans during the months of
April to November, with allowance for up to 100 on special occasions. The permission also allows for storage
of up 10 caravans over the winter months.

1.2Importantly, the condition on the existing permission restricts long term occupancy of the caravans
through limiting continuous occupation by caravans to a maximum of 28 days, consecutive with no return
within a further 28 days and a maximum annual occupation of 42 days.

1.3The current application seeks to allow for a more flexible use of the caravan site through the removal of
the existing condition in response to an identified local need for workers employed in the area on a 3-5 year
contract. This need derives from long term works at the former RAF Marham site and is evidenced by
documentation within the application from the appointed contractor, J Murphy and Son.

1.4Previous permissions on the site were justified on the basis of compliance with Policy DC8   which
supports tourism related development subject to the proviso that such development is restricted to tourist use
through appropriate conditions (DC8(i)). Given the nature of the current application to introduce flexibility to
the use of the site and the specific circumstances behind the application, it is clear that if permission were
granted site would not be solely used for tourism purposes. However, nor would the additional flexibility
sought preclude the site from being used for continued tourism purposes and in this regard the application
can still be considered partly compliant with Policy DC8.

1.5Allied to this, the overarching objective of Policy CP14 of the Core Strategy is to support sustainable rural
communities. Indeed, within the supporting text it is stated, inter alia, that economic development in the
countryside will only be supported where the operation of the business necessitates the locations, represents
a sustainable solution to an identified need and is in line with national policy (paragraph 3.104). In this case,
the current application would support an identified need in the form of the works at RAF Marham which in
itself is serving to enhance economic development in the local area.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 99



1.6Whilst not located within Breckland, the land adjoining the application site (within the district of Kings Lynn
and West Norfolk), benefits from consent for unfettered use of the land as a caravan site without the
restrictions attached through the condition on permission 3PL/2013/0463. In practical terms, in stands to
reason that it would be obtuse for the Council to seek to continue control the occupation of one half of the
site when the other half can lawfully operate unfettered and without such restrictions.

1.7Given all of the above, and on the basis that the application is seeking a temporary permission to serve an
identified local need, officers consider that the application is acceptable in principle.

2.0Biodiversity

2.1The site is directly north of the River Nar which is a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).
Natural England initially objected to the proposal on the basis that the application could have potential
significant effects on the River Nar SSSI and further information was requested regarding the foul sewage
disposal and method for disposal of the existing chemical toilet waste.   Following confirmation that the
applicant that the disposal of foul sewage will continue as existing with septic tank storage and collection by a
registered operator, Natural England had no further objection.

3.0Flood Risk

3.1The site is located within flood zones 2 & 3 of the Environment Agency Flood zone maps. It is also within
fluvial zone 3 of the King's Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council strategic flood risk assessment maps and
in the East of Ouse, Poulver and Nar Internal Drainage Board area.

3.2The Environment Agency has advised no objections subject to a condition advising that floor levels of the
caravans will be 600mm above ground level and caravans are to be securely anchored to their bases.  The
area utilised for the caravan's pitches is laid to grass, and no additional hardstanding is proposed.  The
applicant has advised that it will not increase the impermeable area on-site.

3.3The LLFA has raised concern about the impact of the proposal advising that they expect the applicant to
provide a more detailed approach to demonstrate that the proposals for surface water management are
sufficient to prevent an increase in the risk of flooding. The LLFA advises that the development will change
the flood risk vulnerability classification from a More vulnerable (Sites used for holiday or short-let caravans
and camping, subject to a specific warning and evacuation plan) to a Highly vulnerable (Caravans, mobile
homes and park homes intended for permanent residential use).

3.4Notwithstanding the objection from the LLFA, there is a clear no objection response from the Environment
Agency and advice directly to the applicant that the flood risk to the site has been subject to recent change. It
is understood that this is due to flood mitigation being implemented upstream. On the basis of this and the no
objection from the EA, it is considered that the scheme can be supported from a flood risk perspective.

4.0Other Matters

4.1An objection was received from NCC Highways regarding the unsustainable location of the site for
permanent residential accommodation and in respect of the lack of off-site improvements for pedestrians and
cyclists.

4.2In response to this objection, and further to Section 1.0 of this report, the development would serve a
specific identified temporary local need for workers on a nearby site and as such it is not providing bona fide
permanent residential accommodation. In this regard it is considered that it would not be appropriate for the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 100



 

 

 

application to be assessed under the wider policies for residential development.

4.3The site provides on-site facilities through the adjacent leisure centre and is also located nearby to the
villages of Narborough and Pentney. Whilst no pedestrian or cycling improvements would be delivered by the
scheme, there are routes to the nearby villages. Given the specific nature of the use it is also considered that
it would be unlikely that any of the occupants would use a bicycle. With this in mind and considering that
permanent residential accommodation is not being provided, it is considered that it would not be appropriate
to require the development to deliver off-site highway improvements.

RECOMMENDATION

4.0Conclusion

4.1The scheme is considered to be compliant with policies CP.08, CP.09, CP.10, CP.14 and DC.01. The
scheme is also partly compliant with policy DC.08. These policies are given due weight as they remain
wholly/partly consistent with the published NPPF.

4.2The development would serve an identified local need for a temporary period and the flood risk to the site
is considered to be acceptable. On balance, the application is therefore recommended for approval.

CONDITIONS

2 Temporary use - 3 year
Unless permission is granted beforehand for its retention, the use hereby permitted shall
cease on or before the date of 3 years from the date of this permission being granted and
the land shall thereafter be reinstated to its former use.
Reason for condition:-
In order that the Local Planning Authority may retain control over development which could
become detrimental to the amenities of the locality.

3 Non-standard drainage condition
The floor levels of all occupied caravans shall be at least 600 millimetres above ground level
and shall be securely anchored to their base for the duration of the proposed use.

Reason for condition:- To mitigate the flood risk to the occupiers of the site
4 In accordance with submitted plans NEW 2017

The development must be carried out in strict accordance with the application form, and
approved documents and drawings as set out in the table at the end of this notice.
Reason for condition:-
To ensure the satisfactory development of the site.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 101



 

 

 

 

 

ITEM: RECOMMENDATION: REFUSAL
REF NO: 3PL/2018/0333/F CASE OFFICER Mark Simmonds

LOCATION: WHISSONSETT APPNTYPE: Full
Land off Dereham Road POLICY: Out Settlemnt Bndry
Whissonsett ALLOCATION: N

CONS AREA: N

APPLICANT: Mr Carl and Mrs Caroline Edge
C/O Parker Planning Services Orchard
House

LB GRADE: N

AGENT: Parker Planning Services
Orchard House Hall Lane

TPO: N

PROPOSAL: Erection of dwelling with associated garage incorporating an annexe, parking and garden

DEFERRED REASON

Deferred for update to Committee to be provided on the reason/justification for felling of tree on site.

This application was previously presented to Committee on the 2 July 2018 and the committee overturned
the officer recommendation because they felt the proposals including the design were acceptable.  A
decision notice could not be issued however until the end of the consultation period due to the revised plan
relating to visibility splays, and before the consultation period had finished, the felled tree incident occurred.

The tree in question was on the western boundary of the site. The issue is covered in the body of this report.

REASON FOR COMMITTEE CONSIDERATION

The application is reported to Committee at the request of the Ward Member.

KEY ISSUES

- Principle of Development
- Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area
- Amenity Impact
- Impact upon Highway Safety
- Ecological Impact
- Impact upon Trees
- Affordable Housing

DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT

Full planning permission is sought for the erection of a two-storey 4 bed dwelling, three bay garage and
single storey annex, associated drives and garden area. The annex component of the proposal is in itself a
self-contained residential unit, with a living area, kitchen, bathroom and bedroom.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 102

Agenda Item 9g



 

 

 

 

 

 

The materials for the walls of the proposed development would be brick with larch cladding and off white
render. The roofs of both the proposed dwelling and garage/annex would be pitched and would use grey
slate interlocking tiles.

Access would be from Dereham Road to the south of the site.

SITE AND LOCATION

The application site is located on the south-eastern outskirts of the village of Whissonsett. It lies just beyond
Whissonsett's Settlement Boundary. The site is currently open space and in agricultural use. Further
agricultural land can be found to the east. The application site is surrounded by dwellings on all other sides.

The application site is approximately 8.5 miles north-west of the town of Dereham, 5 miles south of
Fakenham and 2.5 miles south of the village of Colkirk.

EIA REQUIRED

Not required.

RELEVANT SITE HISTORY

No relevant site history.

POLICY CONSIDERATIONS

The following policies of the adopted Breckland Core Strategy and Development Control Policies and the
adopted Site Specific Policies and Proposals Document, including the Proposals Maps, have been taken into
consideration in the determination of this application.  The provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework and National Planning Policy Guidance  have also been taken into account, where appropriate

CP.04 Infrastructure
CP.09 Pollution and Waste
CP.10 Natural Environment
CP.11 Protection and Enhancement of the Landscape
CP.14 Sustainable Rural Communities
DC.01 Protection of Amenity
DC.02 Principles of New Housing
DC.12 Trees and Landscape
DC.16 Design
DC.19 Parking Provision
NPPF National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG National Planning Practice Guidance

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 103



 

 

 

 

 

OBLIGATIONS/CIL

Policy DC4 sets out the affordable housing principles and requires affordable housing where five or more
dwellings are proposed or where the land comprises and area of more that 0.17 hectares. Following a court
case, the Government confirmed that affordable housing requirement would not be a requirement for
schemes of less than 10 units.

However, given that this is a large plot on 0.45hectares of land, it exceeds the 0.17hectare threshold. Policy
DC4 applies to all sites and proposals which, individually or as part of a wider but contiguous site in the same
ownership and/or control, could accommodate a level of development that would meet this threshold. No
proposal has been put forward in relation to affordable housing. However, in this instance, given that the
proposal is for one dwelling on a large plot, it is not considered affordable housing would be reasonable.

CONSULTATIONS

WHISSONSETT PARISH COUNCIL
No objections.
ECOLOGICAL AND BIODIVERSITY CONSULTANT
No objections subject to conditions on mitigation and enhancement of biodiversity.
TREE AND COUNTRYSIDE CONSULTANT
No objection.
NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS
Insufficient information submitted.
CONTAMINATED LAND OFFICER
No objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection.

REPRESENTATIONS

A Site Notice was displayed on 5th April 2018, advertised in the EDP and 16 neighbours were directly
notified. Nine representations were received; 7 objected to the proposed development and 2 outlined
concerns. These comments can be summarised as follows:

- Whissonsett is being expanded beyond acceptable limits;
- The proposal is outside of the settlement boundary;
- The village is lacking services and facilities such a school, local shop, pub, adequate bus and post office
services;
- Highway issues including poor visibility, narrow roads and inadequate road system to cope with traffic;
- Development would split the field in half, with a likelihood the remaining half would be used for development
in time;
- Style, scale, layout and materials of proposal is not in keeping with local character;
- the development would be visually intrusive when entering the village;
- The development is not "infill" as described;
- There are unsold properties in the village; there is no demand for further dwellings;

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 104



- The proposal would harm and undermine a visually important gap that contributes to the character and
distinctiveness of the rural scene;
- The development would overshadow and impact upon the privacy of the neighbouring property.
- Impact upon biodiversity.

Two respondents noted that the proposed design was attractive. One respondent supported the potential
orchard.

Further to presentation at Committee and the raising of the issue with the tree felling the following additional
objections have been received, there were 8 further representations to the application in total after the
Planning Committee of 2nd July.

- Thank you for requesting comment on a felled tree. Ecology and the environment are clearly important. The
tree plans caused confusion. There are a couple of overgrown bushes on the Dereham Road boundary.
There was a hedge on the earth bank but it is not there now.
The inner fencing on the habitat survey is not present. It may represent the electric fence needed to contain
the sheep. There have been no sheep this year. The felled tree was adjacent to Little Acre on the western
boundary. The log pile on the habitat survey may be the remains of it. In their planning statement, the
applicants say they will retain existing hedges and trees. They have not done so. The habitat survey
describes the land as improved grassland, the planning statement calls it arable at one point and grassland
at another. Most of the land around here is high quality agricultural and there is no reason to believe this 2
acre field is otherwise. It is our opinion that this quality and description should be tested, because high quality
agricultural land should not be built on without a demonstrated need which cannot be satisfied elsewhere. In
this case the land is outside the settlement boundary. See our previous comments on need. The large house
with annexe, and the building plot on the High Street remain unsold. The new plan does not show the added
land from the remaining part of the field for road widening. Is this still part of the plan? The plans give the
impression that the western boundary fencing and hedging are part of the site. They are not. The accuracy
and timing of the habitat survey, and consistency of the plans gives us concern. Should the tree plans be
indicative of intention to plant mature trees, we ask that any near our boundary are planted as far from the
boundary as the mature tree height to prevent overshadowing and crown overhang. We believe that
replacement mixed species hedging would be
ecologically preferred. We remain opposed to this development on grounds of detriment to the
environment, lack of identified need (not want), increased road hazard, and being outside the settlement
boundary. Allowing this development may lead to request to develop the remains of the field. The statement
in the planning notes that this is infill is not accepted. Creeping development is what settlement boundaries
are supposed to stop."

- Our previous objections still stand. However we would like to add the
following
1. Widening the road does not remove the danger that increased traffic
to and from this new access point would represent. The bends in the
road, which severely limit visibility would remain narrow and therefore
continue to represent a real risk of accident.
2. The planning proposal claimed that existing boundaries of trees and
hedges would be maintained even enhanced. We are very disappointed
to see that even before building has started that a mature tree on that
boundary has already been cut down by people proposing the build.

- Our previous objections regarding the application stand. We do not believe the application is either
desirable or in keeping with the street scene. We note also that the application has changed to include an

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 105



 

annex in the garages. This will be a self contained dwelling. We are concerned that this will increase traffic to
and from the site. We believe this is a significant alteration and as such would have a greater impact upon
the already stretched resources of the community.

- Our original concerns remain regarding the proposed development with regards to the impact it would have
visually on the village. We do not feel that it is in keeping with the character of the village and would be
detrimental to the rural scene.

-The Highways Agency have stated that they are satisfied with the revised plan to widen the road and
increase visibility displays, however this will not improve the visibility of the road itself. Other objections to the
development stand. The development of this site will split the field in two and undoubtedly lead to further
development in due course. The layout in terms of the proposed development are not in keeping with the
style and character with other properties within the area. Also, the development is not an infill as described in
the application.Most importantly, the development would harm and undermine the visual important gap that
contributes to the character of the rural scene. We continue to object to current application on the above
grounds.

- Further to the changes in the proposed building we respectfully resubmit our objections. We have included
those relating to highway issues as in our view simply widening the road around the access point only
addresses part of the problem caused by another access point along this stretch of road. The pinch points at
either bend remain and any increase in volume of traffic still constitutes a significant increase in risk of
accidents on this road.

- It is with much disappointment that I learn that a planning committee has approved this application before
the consultation expired. This is not in line with the government planning portal diagram of the planning
process. That is that an application is considered after consultation.
Although the highway agency think the road widening is acceptable, it does not remove the bends in the
road, and could make the one at the western end of the site more dangerous since westward travelling traffic
is likely to be moving faster on a widen road. I would like to see a requirement that the road works are
completed before the building of the house is commenced, so that, if possible any problems can be seen and
remedied if necessary. I know that it is normal for road works to be completed before occupation, but the
dangers on this site have not been recognised by the planners.

ASSESSMENT NOTES

1.0 Principle of the Development

1.1 The application seeks planning permission for the development of a dwelling and garage/annex. The
application site lies just outside of a defined Settlement Boundary. The proposal would therefore conflict in
principle with policies DC2 and CP14 of the Core Strategy and Development Control Policies Development
Plan Document (2009), which seek to focus new housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

1.2 However, as advised within the Breckland Statement of Five Year Housing Land Supply, the District
cannot currently demonstrate a five year housing land supply.

 The site is located outside of any settlement boundary in an area of open countryside on the edge of
Whissonsett. For this reason, the proposal conflicts in principle with Policies DC2 and CP14 of the Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009), which seek to focus new
housing within defined Settlement Boundaries.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 106



However, paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2018) states that where an authority does not have an up-to-date
Development Plan or five year housing land supply, the relevant local policies for the supply of housing, as
referred to above, should not be considered up-to-date and that housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development.

1.3 Notwithstanding the above, housing applications should be considered in the context of the presumption
in favour of sustainable development and Footnote 7 to Paragraph 11 of the National Planning Policy
Framework states that relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up to date if the
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites. Currently no such
identified housing supply is adopted.

The presumption in favour of sustainable development is set out in paragraphs 8 and 11 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Paragraph 8 states there are three dimensions to sustainable
development: environmental, economic, social and these dimensions cannot be undertaken in isolation, as
they are mutually dependant.

1.4 The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and decision-takers and is a material
consideration in the determination of planning applications to achieve sustainable development. The
Government outlines three dimensions to sustainable development: economic, social and environmental
(paragraph 8). These dimensions give rise to the need for the planning system to perform a number of roles:

- an economic role - contributing to building a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by ensuring that
sufficient land of the right type is available in the right places and at the right time to support growth,
innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;

- a social role - supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by ensuring that a sufficient number and
range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a
well-designed and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect current and
future needs and support communities' health, social and cultural well-being; and

- an environmental role - contributing to protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment;
including making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.

1.5 Paragraph 9 states that these roles should not be undertaken in isolation, because they are mutually
dependent and that the planning system should play an active role in guiding development to sustainable
solutions. A balanced assessment against these roles is, therefore, required.

1.6 Paragraph 78 of the NPPF (2018) states that housing should be located where it will maintain the viability
of rural communities.

1.7 In terms of the economic and social criteria, the proposal would provide 1 new dwellings and would,
therefore, make a positive, albeit very small, contribution to the housing supply. The proposal would have
limited short-term economic benefits through labour and supply chain demand required during construction,
and longer-term economic benefits through the additional household spend within the wider area that would
be generated by the provision of a dwelling.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 107



1.8  The occupants of the proposed dwelling would rely on the use of the private car to gain access to local
facilities to meet everyday needs. This would not accord with the core planning principle in Paragraph 17 of
the NPPF which is to actively manage patterns of growth to make the fullest possible use of public transport,
walking and cycling. The proposal would also not accord with  the Framework in terms of ensuring the need
to travel will be minimised and the use of sustainable transport modes will be maximised.

1.9  The environmental role of sustainable development seeks to, in part, contribute to protecting and
enhancing the natural, built and historic environment. Consideration of a development's impact on the
character and appearance of the area within which it is situated is therefore integral to the
environmental dimension of sustainable development, as is design.

1.10 In terms of the economic criteria, the proposal would provide an additional dwelling and would,
therefore, make a positive, albeit small, contribution to the housing supply and longer-term economic benefits
through the additional household spend within the wider area that would be generated by the provision of a
dwelling.

1.6 The social role of sustainable development seeks to ensure, amongst other matters, the creation of a
high quality built environment with accessible local services. The application site sits just beyond of the
Settlement Boundary of Whissonsett. Whissonsett does not offer a sufficient range of services and facilities
to meet  the essential day-to-day needs of occupiers of the proposed dwelling. In this respect, the proposal
would not make a significant contribution to the enhancement or maintenance of the vitality of rural
communities. Services and facilities to meet day-to-day needs, including shops and schools, would be found
in higher order settlements such as Fakenham and Dereham, several miles away from the application site.
Bus services do operate between Whissonsett and King's Lynn, Norwich, Fakenham and Tittleshall. The
services are infrequent and would provide some limited service for any potential occupiers.

1.7 In terms of the environmental role, no information has been put forward to demonstrate the need for the
loss of the land to residential and, in any event, it is not considered that the siting of a dwelling in this location
would result in a positive impact on the openness or character and appearance of the landscape having
regard to Policy CP11. This weighs against the proposal.

2.0 Design and Impact on the Character and Appearance of the Area

2.1 Policy DC16 seeks high standards of design and is echoed in the NPPF. Policy CP11 seeks the
protection and enhancement of the District's landscape.

2.2 Whisonsett features buildings of varying design. Materials, styles and scales differ throughout the village,
although generally, a traditional-style design approach is taken. The property to the south of the application
site is two storeys; otherwise the nearby surrounding properties are single storey bungalows.

2.3 The proposed dwelling would be constructed of brick, Siberian larch cladding and off-white render, with a
grey tiled roof. Materials throughout the village tend to be brick or render, with a clay roof tile in red/brown
colours. The style of the proposed development would be modern, with clean lines and large openings. The
design approach would not reflect the character and appearance of the area. Whilst pastiche traditional style
would be undesirable, the proposed approach would result in the development standing out rather
harmoniously fitting in.

2.4 The overall scale and bulk of the proposed dwelling and garage/annex would be larger than surrounding
properties. The proposed dwelling and garage/annex would sit comfortably within their large plot. However,

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 108



this plot would be considerably larger than other development plots in the village and would not reflect the
established development pattern.

2.5 The application site is just outside of the Settlement Boundary and the proposed development would be
located outside of an established ribbon of development along Dereham Road. It would not represent infill
development but elongate the built-up area of the village. It would have a negative affect on the openness of
the landscape in this location.

2.6 The proposed dwelling and garage/annex are not considered acceptable in terms of design and the
proposal is not in accordance with Policy DC16 and Policy CP11.

3.0 Amenity Impact

3.1 Policy DC1 sets out that for all new development, consideration will need to be given to the impact upon
amenity. Development will not be permitted where there are unacceptable effects on the amenities of the
area or the residential amenity of neighbouring occupants, or future occupants of the development site.

3.2 The concerns of the objector are noted with regards to impact upon privacy and overshadowing,
particularly with regards to the existing property to the west, Little Acre. However, it is considered that the
distance between the proposed dwelling and neighbouring properties is sufficient to not cause unacceptable
impacts in this respect. Furthermore, there would be no first floor windows of the west elevation of the two
storey dwelling that would face Little Acre. Overall, the proposed dwelling would not to result in any
unacceptable impacts with regards to over dominance, overshadowing or affect on privacy of neighbours
having regard to Policy DC1.

3.3 A large sized garden area would be provided for the amenities of future occupiers of the proposed
dwellings.

3.4 Policy DC1 also requires consideration of how development would impact upon the amenities of an area,
including the effect on the quality of the landscape or townscape. The policy allows for consideration of the
desirable features of a place that ought to be protected in the public interest. The development of the open
space in this location would be undesirable, resulting in the loss of an attractive open aspect that positively
contributes to the rural character and approach to the village. It would not be in the public interest to see the
erosion of this character.

3.5 Overall, whilst the proposal is considered acceptable in terms of neighbour amenity, it represents an
unacceptable impact in terms of public amenity.

4.0 Impact upon Highway Safety

4.1 Policy CP13 seeks developments that is not detrimental to highway safety, as does the NPPF. Policy
DC19 sets out the car parking requirements.

4.2 The Highway Authority originally advised that the visibility cannot be achieved because the red line does
not extend to the area required for visibility and there was no "blue" land to enable this to be conditioned.

4.3 In addition, if this was achieved, there is a pinch point along the site frontage where the Highway
Authority would require some very minor road widening to achieve a minimum of 4.8m carriageway width and
the plan would need to be annotated accordingly.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 109



4.4 Visibility splays were achieved by issuing a revised plan with a new red line to achieve them.  The report
suggests this did not happen. Notice was served on the applicant's father and the plans accepted.
Permission was granted pending the end to that consultation period for the revised plan and the serving of
notice.

4.5 However, such an agreement would not be acceptable. Either the land would need to be totally within the
red line area and the owner served notice or it would need to form the "blue" land area. In addition, the
required revised plan regarding the widening is necessary.

4.6 The agent submitted a "Post-Consultation Update" outlining the above, but did not provide the required
information.

4.7 The Highway Authority was reconsulted on this information and advised that if sufficient land is included
to the east of the proposed access to provide a 2.4m x 43m visibility splay then there will be no highway
objection, in principle, to the proposal.

4.8 However, they will not provide a formal response until the necessary land to form part of the application is
included. The plan  would also need to be annotated to note that the carriageway adjacent to the entire site
frontage will be locally widened to achieve a uniform 4.8m width.

4.9 As a result, it is acknowledged that this matter could be overcome, with a revised red line plan and
additional plans but the current submission does not contain the sufficient information to warrant approval
and thus does not comply with Policies CP4 and the NPPF.

5.0 Impact upon Ecology

5.1 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) has been submitted with the application. The PEA concludes
that based on the site's habitats, it has the potential to support invertebrates, amphibians (excluding great
crested newts), breeding birds, terrestrial mammals and foraging/commuting bats. The PEA suggests a suite
of mitigation and enhancement measures to avoid unacceptable harm to biodiversity and to support
biodiversity on the site into the future.

5.2 An issue was raised at the last presentation of the case to Committee regarding the felling of a tree, the
tree being on the western boundary - now felled - the Agent has provided before and after site plans showing
the tree in situ and removed. The Agent has sought advice from their ecologist who sent the following
commentary:

"I'm not sure why the removal of this tree is causing an issue with the planning application. From my
understanding, the tree was removed due to recent storm damage, it wasn't removed to facilitate the
development as the construction activity on site would have no impact on this tree which is located outside of
the anticipated impact zone. Had the tree not been damaged in recent
storms then it would not have been removed. The tree did not have a TPO and as such no offence has been
committed in removing the tree. It may have been removed during the nesting season for birds, which
represents a deviation from best practice guidance, but there is no legal restriction to removing a tree during
the nesting season, providing that no nests are damaged or destroyed at
the time of the removal. The ecology report produced by Christine and Ben for Parker Planning Services
contains a standard paragraph within the recommendations relating to trees which I have found is present in
all their reports regardless of whether there are actually any trees on the site or not. As there were no semi-
mature or mature trees within the redline construction footprint for the

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 110



development, the recommendation has limited relevance to this development. I do not see any value in
amending or reissuing their report, the recommendations they made are still valid and reflect the current
status and value of the habitats within the site and adequately identify any ecological constraints and
recommend appropriate mitigation. The PEA report doesn't highlight this tree as having any potential for
supporting roosting bats, which I would expect from an ecology report, if there were indeed Potential Roost
Features present. From the report, I conclude that the tree did not have such features and did not have value
in its own right, beyond the context of it being part of the boundary trees listed as Mixed scattered trees. The
tree itself was a conifer; most likely a cypress, perhaps part of a row that was present in 2008 (see attached
streetview image)
but since removed. Conifers are less frequently used by roosting bats; they are fast growing and are less
likely to develop the types of features that are useful for roosting bats such as rot holes with chambers
formed in hollow limbs. In addition, the resin they produce around cracks and other damage either seals
gaps or can dissuade roosting due to the sticky coating and smell. Obviously
this is a generalisation and bats roosts are reported in conifers, just much less frequently.
There is no legal requirement to have an ecologist inspect every tree before an arborist cuts it down. Most
tree surgeons have received training relating to bats in trees, and in many respects they are more
experienced than ecologists as they more frequently encounter bats in trees than most ecologists.
Furthermore, they are fully aware of the penalties for destroying bat roosts. As such, I find it unlikely that any
tree surgeon would have removed the tree had it any credible risk of supporting roosting bats."

The response from the Natural Environment Team (NCC) was;

"Thank you for sending over additional information regarding the felling of the conifer tree. The explanation
from the ecologist clarifies the reasons for felling the tree due to storm damage and concludes from the
report that the tree did not have potential roost features and did not have value in its own right. Our previous
comments still apply attached."

5.3 On the basis of this advice the planning officers do not see this as an issue on which to resist the
proposed development.

5.4The Ecologist has no objection but recommends condition to avoid unacceptable harm to biodiversity.
Subject to appropriate conditions, the proposal would be in accordance with Policy CP10.

6.0 Other Matters

6.1 The Contaminated Land Officer has considered the proposal and has advised that they have no
objections or comments on the grounds of Environmental Protection, providing the
development proceeds in line with the application details. The proposal, therefore, accords with Policy CP9.

6.2 A number of trees and hedgerows border the site. It is proposed that the existing trees and hedgerows
would be retained. The Tree and Countryside Consultant has no objections. As a result, the proposal
complies with Policy DC12.

7.0 Planning Balance and Conclusion

7.1  In terms of the overall planning balance of the scheme, whilst the proposed development would be
located just outside of the Settlement Boundary of Whissonsett, as the Council does not currently have a five
year housing land supply and the Framework establishes that the relevant policies for the supply of housing
should not be considered to be up to date. Paragraph 11 of the Framework states that in these cases

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 111



 

 

 

permission should be granted unless any adverse impacts would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the Framework taken as a whole.

7.2  The proposed development represents the same scheme as was previously presented to members, with
the exception of the felled tree. Whilst the felled tree is not considered to warrant an reason for refusal of the
application in itself, in the interests of consistency - the application is recommended for refusal by officers for
the reason previously outlined in the July report. The proposal represents a design and development pattern
that would not reflect the existing character and appearance of the area, and would see the loss of an open
approach to the village. These negative impacts would outweigh the benefits of the proposal.

Refusal of the application is accordingly recommended.

REASON(S) FOR REFUSAL

1 Non-std housing reason for refusal
The dwelling, self-contained annex and garage on 0.45 hectares of land outside the
Settlement Boundary of Whissonset represents a design and development pattern that
would not reflect the existing character and appearance of the area. The proposal would
result in detriment to the character and visual amenities of the area and be an unwarranted
intrusion into this rural landscape resulting in the loss of an attractive open aspect that
positively contributes to the rural character and approach to the village. As a result, the
proposal is contrary to Policies DC1, DC16 and CP11 of the adopted Breckland Core
Strategy and Development Control Policies Development Plan Document (2009) and the
National Planning Policy Framework 2018.

BRECKLAND COUNCIL - PLANNING COMMITTEE - 17th December 2018

COMREPORT (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda/Officer report) 112



 
Date of list - 6th December 2018

 

List of decisions made by Breckland Council under the agreed terms of delegation.
 
_______________________________________________________________________________

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
PLANNING COMMITTEE

DOC - COMPLETE

3DC/2018/0211/DOC Mrs Gaye Davidson BEESTON
Holmedene Farm
Syers Lane
Beeston

Discharge of Conditions 4, 6, 7,
9, 10 and 11 on
3PL/2018/0822/F

3DC/2018/0204/DOC . NECTON
Former Necton Diner
Norwich Road

Discharge of Conditions 20 &
21 on 3PL/2017/1284/F

No Prior Approval

3PN/2018/0056/PNE Mr Callum Cook THOMPSON
5 Airey Houses
Tottington Road,
Thompson

Single storey rear extension

Permission

3PL/2018/1256/HOU Mr & Mrs  Wallis ASHILL
7 The Mere Hale
Road
Ashill

Proposed single storey front
extension and two storey
extension to the rear

3PL/2018/1186/HOU Mrs Natalie Berwick ATTLEBOROUGH
Halford House, Flat
2
High Street

Replacement bay window,
casement window to klitchen &
rear bedroom windows

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 113

Agenda Item 10



3PL/2018/1195/F Crowshall Veterinary Surgery ATTLEBOROUGH
Crowshall Veterinary
Surgery
1 Crows Hall Lane,
Attleborough

To install two Portakabin
buildings to be used as office
and staff facilities for a period of
3 years

3PL/2018/1263/HOU Mr M Woods ATTLEBOROUGH
47 Queens Road
Attleborough
Norfolk

Proposed disability wet room

3PL/2018/1245/HOU Mr & Mrs C Ley BANHAM
Fretherne Doe Lane
Banham

Extensions, Alterations and
Detached Cart Shed

3PL/2018/1258/A C/o agent BANHAM
The Appleyard
Kenninghall Road
Banham

New Signs

3PL/2018/1219/HOU Mr Braybrook BEETLEY
Kosikot
Church Road,
Beetley

Extension & alteration to
dwelling to enable additional
living and bedroom
accommodation on first floor.
Demolish timber frame garage
& replace & relocate with larger
garage

3PL/2018/0049/F Mr Michael Davey BLO' NORTON
Fairfields,The Street
Blo Norton

Use of land as nature reserve
with amenities for visitors to
include portacabins and stables
with attic above for
studio/workshop with improved
vehicular access/parking).

3PL/2018/1123/F Mr & Mrs  Goddard CRANWORTH
Building at Meadow
Farm Southburgh
Road
Southburgh,
Cranworth

Conversion of existing goat
shed to annex

3NM/2018/0075/NMA EGP Projects Ltd DEREHAM
21 Wellington Road
Dereham

Amendment to
3PL/2018/0706/HOU to add a
storm porch to front door

3NM/2018/0076/NMA EGP Projects Ltd DEREHAM
19 Wellington Road

Amendment to
3PL/2018/0707/HOU to add

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 114



Dereham storm porch to front door

3PL/2018/1079/HOU Mr Dennis Skipper DEREHAM
51 Sandy Lane
Dereham

Demolish existing conservatory
and replace with brick built
extension

3PL/2018/1272/HOU Mr R O'Neil DEREHAM
2a Theatre Street
Dereham

Two storey extension

3PL/2018/1288/F British Telecom PLC DEREHAM
Dereham Telephone
Exchange
6 Swaffham Road

Installation of aluminium louvre
(West Roof Elevation)

3PL/2018/0865/F Mr Phil Eddoes GARVESTONE
Kings Villa Dereham
Road
Garvestone

Erection of a three bedroom
detached residential unit

3PL/2018/1168/HOU Mr & Mrs  Green GREAT DUNHAM
Shrublands
Litcham Road, Great
Dunham

Proposed conversion and
extension of existing garage to
provide self contained annex

3PL/2018/1277/F Mr G Pledger GUIST
Carnalea
Watery Lane   Guist

Erection of replacement
bungalow (amended scheme)

3PL/2018/1106/F Black Swan International Ltd HARLING
The Beeches 1 West
Harling Road
Harling

Extensions to provide 7
additional bedrooms and
enlarged dining room and
internal store.

3PL/2018/1335/LU Mr & Mrs A Peters HOCKERING
36 Bishop Herbert
Close
Hockering

Proposed loft dormer &
conversion to two rooms
(certificate of lawfulness)

3PL/2018/1276/HOU Mr & Mrs R J H Creese LITTLE DUNHAM
The Goods Shed
Station Road  Little
Dunham

Erection of triple garage and
storage area

3PL/2018/1269/VAR CAUSTON LYNFORD
Rose Cottage West
Tofts Road

PROPOSED EXTENSION TO
SIDE OF PROPERTY
3PL/2018/0689/HOU

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 115



Lynford Conditions(s) 2

3PL/2018/1119/VAR Bracken Developments LYNG
Site Rear of Fox And
Hounds Public
House
Lyng

Variation of condition 2 on pp
3PL/2014/1012/F - two 3 bed
houses - minor alterations
carried out to windows and
external doors

3PL/2018/1176/F Revell Architecture and
Engineering

NARBOROUGH
Foresters Lodge
Main Road
Narborough

Conversion of existing building
into four terrace houses, plus
landscaping.

3PL/2018/1274/A FOOD PROGRAMME
DELIVERY ORCHID

NECTON
Co-op Food  &
Petrol Station
Off A47

Proposed Advertisment Boards

3NM/2018/0079/NMA Mr J Ashford NORTH ELMHAM
Plot 2, Land
adjacent Millers Old
Cottage
High Street, North
Elmham

Amendment to planning
permission 3PL/2017/0759/F -
minor chages to elevation
fenestration

3PL/2018/1271/F Stephen & Pamela Brown OLD BUCKENHAM
Shardalows Farm
Fen Street
Old Buckenham

all weather menage with field
shelter

3PL/2018/1325/F Mr Stephen Brown OLD BUCKENHAM
Shardalows Farm
Fen Street   Old
Buckenham

Extension to grain store

3PL/2018/1278/HOU Mr & Mrs Spalding SAHAM TONEY
Chez Nous
8 Hills Road Saham
Hills

Removal of existing
conservatory & erection of
orangery

3PL/2018/1294/F Mr  Lemmon SNETTERTON
Q D Distribution
Centre Harling Road
Snetterton

Retrospective application for
formation of new vehicular
access

3PL/2018/0972/HOU Mr & Mrs R McGregor-Smith STOW
BEDON/BRECKLES
Stow Bedon Hall

This application is for the repair
and refurbishment of an existing
single garage and conversion of

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 116



Rockland Road part of the connected
outbuilding (an old disused
milking parlour) into a
greenhouse.

3PL/2018/0973/LB Mr & Mrs R McGregor-Smith STOW
BEDON/BRECKLES
Stow Bedon Hall
Rockland Road
Stow Bedon

This application is for the repair
and refurbishment of an existing
single garage and conversion of
part of the connected
outbuilding (an old disused
milking parlour) into a
greenhouse.

3PL/2018/1148/HOU Mr Adam Chapman SWANTON
MORLEY
Cherry Tree House
Woodgate
Swanton Morley

Erection of Summer House and
Fencing

3PL/2018/1192/F Mrs Hayley Booth THETFORD
Nunnery Lakes Bird
Reserve
Nuns' Bridges Road

The erection of a raised timber
wildlife viewing platform. To be
constructed alongside the
existing bird hide.

3PL/2018/1302/LU Mr Mariusz Mikulski THETFORD
48 Tennyson Way
Thetford

Change Garage into a Utillity
Room and small bedroom
change garage door to a
window(Certificate of
Lawfulness)

3PL/2018/1158/HOU Mr & Mrs J Nicholls TITTLESHALL
Holly House 51 High
Street
Tittleshall

Erection of two storey rear
extension  to include Juliet
balcony and 1.5 storey side
extension (existing
conservatory to be demolished)

3PL/2018/1169/F Notemachine UK Ltd WATTON
52 High Street
Watton

Installation of an ATM
Retrospective

3PL/2018/1170/A Notemachine UK Ltd WATTON
52 High Street
Watton

Internally illuminated fascia sign
Retrospective

3PL/2018/1259/HOU Mr & Mrs  Lister WATTON
225 Lovell Gardens
Watton

Erection of garden room to the
rear elevation

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 117



3PL/2018/1181/HOU Mr & Mrs  Stoker WHINBURGH&WES
TFIELD
Sunset
Shop Street

Demolition of existing garage
and erection of single storey
annexe to provide ancillary
accommodation for elderly
parent

3PL/2018/1281/HOU Mr & Mrs  Colley WHINBURGH&WES
TFIELD
Daintree Whinburgh
Road
Westfield

Proposed Single Storey front
extension and replacement of
windows and doors

3PL/2018/1314/SU UK Power Networks WHISSONSETT
New Road
Whissonsett

Overhead line works

Refusal

3PL/2018/1161/F C/o Lanpro BESTHORPE
Oaklands Norwich
Road
Besthorpe

Timber Log Cabin Structure for
holiday let, retrospective.

3PL/2018/1251/O Ms Cody Barnes DEREHAM
22 Sandy Lane East
Dereham

Outline application for new
dwelling

3PL/2018/1268/F Mr R O Neill DEREHAM
2a Theatre Street
Dereham

Erection of detached dwelling

3NM/2018/0082/NMA Mr  Taylor EAST TUDDENHAM
Magpie Yard Traps
Lane Church Lane
East Tuddenham

Amendment to
3PL/2012/1285/F - change from
flat roof to pitched roof

3PL/2018/1149/F Mr  Barnes GARBOLDISHAM
Land Adjacent
Papine Smallworth
Lane Smallworth
Garboldisham

Erection of 1 No. dwelling with
associated landscaping and
parking

3PL/2016/1084/F Ms Jo Norton NARBOROUGH
Aggro Palace

Construction of new single 1 1/2
storey detached house to

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 118



Swaffham Road replace existing modular/mobile
home

3PL/2018/1144/O Otley Properties Ltd WHINBURGH&WES
TFIELD
Manor Farm Church
Road
Whinburgh

Residential Development for 2
dwellings

PLAGDEL (ODB-Ocella One Click Agenda) 119



APPEALS SUMMARY- DECEMBER

3PL//2017/1377/F-  Land opposite Highcroft, Sandy Lane, East Tuddenham, NR20 3JH  
( Temporary kennel maid accommodation in a purpose built lodge)

DISMISSED

 The Inspector concluded that the proposal would result in an isolated new home in the 
countryside and that it has not been demonstrated that there is an essential need for a rural 
worker to live permanently at or near their place of work. The proposal is therefore contrary 
to policies SS1 and CP14 of the DPD and to paragraph 79 of the Framework. These policies 
seek, amongst other things, to restrict and control development, including dwellings, in the 
countryside in order to support the Council’s settlement strategy and to avoid isolated 
dwellings unless there is an essential need to accommodate a rural worker. The Inspector 
also concluded that the appeal site is not a suitable location for a dwelling having regard to 
its accessibility and proximity to services and facilities. Future occupiers of the dwelling 
would be likely to be heavily reliant on the use of a car. This would be contrary to Policy 
DC16 which requires amongst other things, interdependent places to be well connected 
along routes that promote a choice of transport mode which seek to promote sustainable 
transport.  The appeal was accordingly dismissed.

3PL/2017/1080/O – Adjacent/ rear of Pinewood House, off Gorgate Drive, Fakenham 
Road, Hoe Dereham NR20 4HA  ( Residential development of 2 bungalows)

DISMISSED 

The Inspector concluded that the two bungalows proposed would be contrary to local and 
national planning policies over the location of new development where this would lead to 
further private car use in conflict with general objectives to reduce congestion and 
emissions, and improve air quality and public health. The Inspector also concluded that the 
bungalows would detract from the appearance of the quite pleasant, open country side 
within which they would be located, not in any way reflecting its rural character for these 
reasons the development would conflict with Policy CP11, DC1 and DC16 which collectively 
aim to protect the character and appearance of the countryside from development of an 
inappropriate nature and design. The appeal was accordingly dismissed by the Inspector.

3PL/2017/1081/O- . Adjacent Topfields, Fakenham Road, Hoe, Dereham, NR20 4HA 
(Proposed residential development (Two houses and garages)

DISMISSED

The Inspector concluded that the appeal site would not be an appropriate location for two 
further dwellings with regard to providing good accessibility by more sustainable modes of 
transport and for these reasons would be contrary to local and national planning policies. 
The Inspector also noted that the proposal would result in an uncharacteristic and rather 
incongruous suburban form of housing extending into the open countryside beyond the 
dissimilar low- density, more spacious two houses adjacent. The proposal would not relate 

120

Agenda Item 11



well to the existing pattern of very limited and sporadic development and neither be an 
example of infill or rounding off. The proposal would be quite prominent and have a harmfully 
suburbanising impact, at odds with the rural character of the surrounding area. The appeal 
was accordingly dismissed by the Inspector.

3PL/2015/0589/O- Land North of Dereham Road, Mattishall, Norfolk  (Residential 
development of up to 16 dwellings including access with all matters reserved)

DISMISSED

The Inspector considered the four main issues of consideration were (i) The effect of the 
proposed development on the character and appearance of the area (ii) Whether or not the 
proposed development would be at an unacceptable risk of flooding ( iii) The effect of the 
proposed development on highway safety with particular regard to the suitability of the 
access: and (iv) Whether or not the appeal site is an appropriate location for new housing 
having regard to the Development Plan and the Council'’ Supply of housing. The Inspector 
concluded that the proposed development would fail to comply with Policies CP11, DC1 and 
DC16 of the Local Plan and Policy HOU4 of the Neighbourhood Plan. Amongst other things, 
these policies seek to ensure that new development should be of the highest quality and fully 
consider the context within which it sits. In terms of flood risk, the proposed development 
would be at an unacceptable risk of flooding. Such that it would fail to accord with policy 
DC13 of the Local Plan and the relevant paragraphs of section 14 of the Framework. 
Together, and amongst other things, these policy approaches seek to ensure that new 
development should be located in areas at least risk of flooding. With regards highway safety 
the Inspector found the scheme acceptable. In terms of the appropriate location given the 
unacceptable risk of flooding and development causing harm to the character and 
appearance of the area the Inspector concluded that the benefits would be significantly and 
demonstrably outweighed. For the purposes of the Framework therefore, the appeal scheme 
would not represent sustainable development for which the presumption in favour applies. 
The Inspector’s concluded that the appeal site would not be an appropriate location for new 
housing and the appeal was according dismissed.

121


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	Minutes

	8 Deferred Applications
	9a Attleborough: Unit opposite MultiFab Bunns Bank: Reference: 3PL/2018/1206/F
	9b Beeston: Land off The Street and Herne Lane: Reference: 3PL/2018/0472/F
	F_ocella9iwildfly-11.0.0.FinalstandalonetmpNAW_COMREPORT_559
	f_ocella_dvplTarget_dv_pl_files3PL_2018_0472_F3PL_2018_0472_F-COMREP

	9c Foulden: Site at School Road: Reference: 3PL/2017/1603/O
	F_ocella9iwildfly-11.0.0.FinalstandalonetmpNAW_COMREPORT_559
	f_ocella_dvplTarget_dv_pl_files3PL_2017_1603_O3PL_2017_1603_O-COMREP

	9d Great Ellingham: Development Site at 601936 296991, Attleborough Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0713/VAR
	9e Ickburgh: Land adjacent to Manor Farm, 50 Ashburton Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/1061/F
	9f Narborough:  Pentney Leisure and Bowls Club, Narborough Road, Pentney, Kings Lynn: Reference: 3PL/2018/0154/F
	9g Whissonsett: Land off Dereham Road: Reference: 3PL/2018/0333/F
	10 Applications determined by the Executive Director of Place
	11 Appeals Summary (for info)



